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June 30, 2020 

Members of the Board of Commissioners and 
Residents of Greater Kansas City, Missouri, Metropolitan 
Area Kansas City Area Transportation Authority 

The Kansas City Area Transportation Authority (KCATA) is proud to submit their Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the year ended December 31, 2019. This is the second CAFR issued 
by KCATA and will be submitted for Certification by the Government Finance Officers Association 
(GFOA). This CAFR was prepared by the Finance Department at KCATA and is indicative of the agency’s 
commitment to provide accurate, timely and functional operational, financial and statistical 
information to the Board of Commissioners, KCATA partners and interested parties. 

KCATA management is fully responsible for the reliability and accuracy of the information herein. 
Management is committed to ensuring a comprehensive framework of internal controls are 
maintained within the organization. As a result, the KCATA can provide reasonable assurances that 
financial reporting will not contain material inaccuracies. 

The accounting firm of RSM US LLP performed the audit of the KCATA financials and has issued an 
unmodified opinion for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Independent Auditor’s Report is the 
first item located in the Financial Section of the CAFR. 

RSM, US LLP also performed a single audit of federal grants that KCATA currently administers. An 
annual single audit of federal grants is done to meet federal requirements related to grant funding 
eligibility. This process is comprised of a sample review by the external auditors of federally funded 
grants administered by the KCATA. 

Included in the Financial Section of the CAFR is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) which 
provides a narrative introduction, summary and analysis of the basic KCATA financial statements and 
immediately follows the Independent Auditor's Report. MD&A complements this letter of transmittal 
and should be read in conjunction with it. 

Agency Background 

The Kansas City Area Transportation Authority was created with a bi-state compact by the Missouri 
and Kansas legislatures, with the approval of the U.S. Congress. It was signed December 28, 1965. At 
that time public transit was being provided on a fragmented, uncoordinated basis by several 
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independent, private, mostly failing companies. After creation of the KCATA it was determined that it 
would be best for the entire metropolitan area if the KCATA acquired the private companies and 
assumed responsibility for total transit service. Actual transit operations began Feb. 1, 1969. The 
compact gives the KCATA responsibility for planning, construction, owning and operating passenger 
transportation systems and facilities within the seven-county Kansas City metropolitan area. These include 
the counties of Cass, Clay, Jackson and Platte in Missouri, and Johnson, Leavenworth and Wyandotte in 
Kansas. 

Board of Commissioners. The KCATA is governed by a ten-member Board of Commissioners, five from 
Kansas and five from Missouri. The Board establishes policy and sets direction for the management of 
the agency. Each board member serves four-year terms. For Missouri, one commissioner each is 
appointed from Cass, Platte and Clay counties. One commissioner is appointed from a part of Jackson 
County other than that part of such county that is within the city of Kansas City, and one commissioner 
is appointed from the city of Kansas City. For Kansas, three commissioners are appointed from the 
Unified Government of Wyandotte County and Kansas City, Kansas, and one each from Johnson and 
Leavenworth counties. 

Executive Team. The KCATA is led by the President/CEO with the Deputy CEO/COO who reports to the 
President/CEO. The Senior Vice President of RideKC reports directly to the President/CEO, as does the 
Senior Policy Advisor and RideKC Development Corporation. The agency’s General Counsel reports 
directly to the Deputy CEO/COO, as does the CFO/Senior Vice President of Administration, who is 
responsible for Finance, Procurement, Risk and Safety Management, Legal Services and Information 
Technology. There are three Vice-Presidents, who all report directly to the Deputy CEO/COO. The Vice-
President of Operations is responsible for Service Delivery, Fleet and Facilities Maintenance, Security 
and Regional Community Contracts. The Vice-President of People Development is responsible for 
Human Resources, Labor Relations and Training. The Vice-President of Planning and Strategy is 
responsible for Service Planning, Multimodal, Program Management, Customer Service, Marketing and 
Communications. The Deputy CEO/COO is also responsible for oversight of Contract Project 
Management which includes Capital Programs, Government Affairs, Streetcar Development, Non-Fare 
Revenue Initiatives and Partnership Development. The KCATA Executive team is depicted in an 
organizational chart in this introductory section. 

KCATA Stats. As of December 31, 2019, the KCATA had 762 employees; 627 are union employees and 
135 are salaried staff. Fixed-route services provided 8.3 million revenue miles and 2.8 million revenue 
miles of paratransit service. The KCATA fleet is comprised of 236 active buses, 10 contingency buses 
and 20 paratransit vehicles. 

Revenue Sources. The primary sources of revenue for the KCATA are federal grant funds and sales tax 
revenue from Kansas City, Missouri. There are two sources of sales tax revenue, both of which are used 
to pay for services provided to Kansas City, Missouri; the Public Mass Transportation Fund (½ -cent 
sales tax) and the 3/8-cent Sales Tax. The ½-cent sales tax, which was made permanent by the Missouri 
State Legislature in 2015, is a Kansas City, Missouri, tax and is allocated to the KCATA at their discretion 
through the annual service contract. The ½-cent sales tax is also used to fund capital charges for Kansas 
City, Missouri, as 7.5% of the receipts are submitted directly to the KCATA and held in the Capital Trust 
Account. The amount distributed to KCATA by KCMO is fully applied to the service cost during the 
contract year. The 3/8-cent sales tax, which was overwhelmingly passed by voters in 2003 and renewed 
in 2007, is dedicated to KCATA with an exception of reductions for tax increment financing projects 
prior to 2009. The amount distributed to KCATA is used to cover the remaining Kansas City, Missouri, 
service cost after applying all other revenues.  
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Annually, KCATA management prepares and presents the operating and capital budgets to the Board 
of Commissioners in a public meeting for approval. Budgets are developed at the departmental level. 
Each department must ensure operations are consistently performed in a responsible manner and is 
held accountable for ensuring expenditures remain consistent with their approved budgets. Budget 
amendments to revenues or expenditures must be submitted to the Board for approval.   

Budgeted and actual departmental expenses are reported for both the current month and year-to-date 
in the financial reports presented to the Board of Commissioners at the monthly business meeting. 
Significant variances in expenditures and their cause are addressed in the narrative summary to the 
financial report. The established strategic objectives as outlined by the Board provide the guidance 
departments must follow when making spending decisions. The KCATA utilizes accrual accounting 
methods for financial and budgetary reporting. 

State of the Regional Economy and Forecast 

Recovering from a pandemic. The primary concern facing KCATA and the region is the impact of the 
pandemic on the communities and on services. KCATA has taken a leadership role locally and nationally 
in dealing with the health crisis and is actively working with other organizations and governmental 
entities to identify best practices so that public transportation comes back from the pandemic stronger 
than before the health crisis. KCATA’s Crisis Management Team prepared well in the first few weeks of 
the pandemic, safely and securely transitioning nearly 80% of the workforce to a remote work 
environment. KCATA bus operators continue to report to the front-line, serving other essential workers 
daily. Maintenance and facility staff have been sanitizing vehicles and the campus daily to ensure the 
safety of customers and operators, as well as ensure the vehicles and facilities remain in top operating 
condition. Ridership took a significant hit but planning and operations have been quick to adjust service 
to reduce agency costs, while minimizing rider impact. The decision to not charge fares during the 
pandemic was made to keep our operators safe and to help riders who may be affected economically 
and incentivize others to continue to ride. KCATA took needed steps to improve safety for operators 
and riders by distributing masks to riders and implementing rear-door boarding to create distance 
between customers and operators. Community-focused projects also became a priority as staff 
delivered food to pantries throughout the city.  

Long-term change resulting from the pandemic is being evaluated and, just like many other 
organizations, we fully expect that a “new” KCATA will result from the challenge that we have faced 
with a perpetual eye to how the agency should look in the future. 

Economic conditions and consumer sales play a major role in the generation of sales tax revenues, 
which is the primary revenue source for the KCATA. The economic forecast for Kansas City, Missouri, 
is stable and sales tax revenues for that period are typically projected to increase 1.5% per year based 
on prior year trends. For 2020, the KCATA budgeted an increase of .5% due to trends recognized during 
2019. There remain uncertainties that could have a significant economic impact including: 

• Federal funding related to potential changes based on upcoming elections

• Future trends in transit ridership which are currently diminishing

• Multiple system alignment and revenue challenges resulting from the pandemic

• Long-term organizational structure and increasing benefit

KCATA provides service predominantly on the Missouri side of the state line in the counties of Jackson, 
Clay, Platte and Cass counties. This area includes the city of Kansas City, Missouri, along with the cities 
of Blue Springs, Gladstone, Grandview, Independence, Lee’s Summit, Liberty, North Kansas City, 
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Raytown, Riverside and Unity Village. Service is provided on the Kansas side to the Unified Government 
of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kansas. KCATA also assumed management of Johnson County, 
Kansas, contract service and financial operations beginning in 2014, but transit services are provided 
through private contractors. The urbanized service area for the KCATA is 678 square miles with a service 
population of 1,519,417 which is the 31st largest in the country per the Federal Transit Administration. 
The Kansas City metropolitan area has a total population of 2,143,651 which is the 31st largest in the 
country per the U.S. Census Bureau. Of this population, 703,011 reside in Jackson County, Missouri, and 
602,401 reside in Johnson County, Kansas, which are the two largest counties in the metropolitan area.   

The local economy has continued to be strong, improving sales tax receipts for transit services through 
2019. The favorable economy has also helped to maintain a low level of unemployment rate which was 
3.7% at the end of both 2018 and 2019 in Jackson County, Missouri, which is also the national rate. 

2019 Achievements 

The KCATA supports a regional transportation initiative to provide access to jobs, educational 
opportunities, medical needs, shopping and local events. It also supports economic development, 
other major initiatives and provides a lifeline to those without cars in a growing population. 
Throughout 2019 KCATA has focused on the following strategic priorities: 

• Safety and security for employees and customers

• Regional stakeholder engagement

• Initiatives to increase ridership through improved reliability and customer experience

• Financial sustainability and economic development

• Innovation and technology to improve regional mobility

Several initiatives have resulted from these priorities including: 

• Kansas City, Missouri, police officers serving on KCATA staff to provide rider and
operator protection 

• Addition of armed security services at KCATA facilities

• Constant communications with regional partners on service status and revisions

• Rider surveys to determine customer demands

• RideKC Development Corporation was created to pursue economic development
ventures on behalf of the agency

• Applications development to allow customers the ability to track services and
request rides on demand.

Along with continuing support for traditional operations, 2019 expenses were considerably lower than 
budget due to reductions in anticipated project costs and conscientious spending by departments. 
KCATA continues to commit to innovative solutions and responsible investment in new initiatives 
during 2020 including:  

• The launch of Kansas City, Missouri’s third Bus Rapid Transit line, Prospect MAX in
December 2019.

• The grand opening of the new East Village Transit Center at 12th & Charlotte in August
2020 that is the downtown anchor of the 10-mile Prospect MAX line.

• Continued commitment to pursue and develop transit-related opportunities for the Rock
Island Rail Corridor in an ongoing partnership with Jackson County, Missouri.

• RideKC Freedom On-Demand continues app-based service for residents with special
needs using taxi rides without calling ahead and without long waits.
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• An agreement with four school districts (Kansas City Missouri Public Schools, North
Kansas City School District, Hickman Mills C-1 School District and Center Public Schools)
allows  9th – 12th grade students to ride RideKC fare-free, effectively expanding the
existing fare-free program that allows veterans to ride RideKC services with no fare. Plus,
the Opportunity Pass provides unlimited passes to social service agencies. The agencies
distribute these passes to at-risk people to ensure that anyone who needs a ride can get
one.

• The continuation of the partnership with the Kansas City Police Department in 2019 that
dedicates two police officers to public transit security for KCATA.

Ridership has been declining from 2018 to 2019, primarily because of lower gasoline prices resulting in 
more potential riders using their personal cars along with competition from private transit providers. 
The level of impact realized by KCATA was a reduction in ridership from 12.5 million passenger trips in 
2018 to 12.0 million trips in 2019, a decrease of 3.8%. This loss of ridership resulted in a 4.4% loss of 
passenger revenues in 2019 compared to 2018. A contributing factor is the continuation of the 
Veteran’s Pass Program along with the addition of the high school student Pass Program. The two 
programs combined have provided almost 2.5 million fare-free rides since inception.   

Awards and recognition received by KCATA during 2019 include: 

• First place in the Special Event category for the Student Pass Pep Rally from AdWheel.

• Gold award for the Multi-Channel Campaign for Election Day 2018 from the Social
Media Club of Kansas City.

• The KCATA CEO was the recipient of three awards during 2019:
o FTA Region VII Award of Distinction for his leadership in creating a regional

transportation system by partnering with the Streetcar Authority, the City of
Independence, the Unified Government of Wyandotte County and Kansas City,
Kansas and Johnson County, Kansas.

o The George K. Meany Scout Award approved by the AFL-CIO Executive Council for
significant contributions made to the youth of the community through Scouting.

o The Difference Maker Award from the Urban League of Kansas City for contributions
to the community.

Goals and Objectives-Current and Future 

In its role as the regional authority, KCATA has developed a planned system redesign to reduce 
unproductive service while accelerating technology and innovation to enhance service delivery. Key 
components of the plan are a frequent grid, seven days a week, to connect more people to opportunity; 
and retaining options for those who need transit the most. As in prior years, the Board of 
Commissioners continues to stress prioritization of cost control and revenue growth to ensure the 
financial stability of the KCATA and our regional partners. Safety, service quality and customer 
satisfaction remain our top priorities.  

During the past year, KCATA showed significant progress in support of the Commission-endorsed vision 
of “Quality Seamless Regional Transportation for Everyone” with the start of the Prospect MAX BRT 
service. The service provides faster service along the corridor with fewer stops and shorter headways. 
These two components reduce wait and travel times for customers. 

The entire region continues to seek opportunities to support the shift from traditional transportation 
services to a global approach that encompasses the transportation needs of all stakeholders in the Kansas 
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City metropolitan area. Leveraging the community’s recognition of KCATA as the leader in regional 
transportation, KCATA will grow and change as follows: 

• Forge strong regional partnerships through organizational stakeholder engagement.

• Finalize a structural redevelopment of the organization to be fully focused on being a
regional provider of transportation services.

• Leverage the expertise of members of the Commission and leaders in partner
organizations through committee involvement in the areas of Finance, Marketing,
Human Resources and Economic Development.

Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan 

Annually, the KCATA develops a five-year capital improvement plan (CIP) as part of the budgeting 
process. Included in this document are projects, fleet and other capital equipment deemed as 
necessary to accomplish the organization’s strategic initiatives and goals. The current plan covers the 
years 2020 through 2024 and has a five-year total cost of $254.8 million. Major items in the five-year 
plan include: 

• Operations ($173.8 million)

o As the new downtown transit center is operational, one area of focus is rehabilitation
of regional shelters and upgrades to passenger amenities, including technology.
Other scheduled improvements include revitalization of the Trolley Trail and Bridge
and the development of the Rock Island corridor which is a joint venture with Jackson
County, Missouri, to revitalize and develop a shared use pathway and multimodal
transit corridor. Over the next five years, a new BRT line on the Independence
Avenue corridor is planned, incorporating branded amenities and advanced
technologies. KCATA is becoming more engaged in the Streetcar projects,
committing funds to the expansion project in 2021 and 2022.

• Facility Improvements ($21.7 million)

o Projects include the renovation and remodeling of the staff office building and bus
storage facility on the KCATA campus, building a new regional office building in
downtown Kansas City, Missouri, and rehabilitation project for asphalt and concrete
on the KCATA campus.

• Revenue Vehicles and Installed Equipment ( $42.7 million)

o The KCATA will be replacing several revenue vehicles during the timeframe of 2021
through 2023 to ensure safe, reliable transportation for those who depend on KCATA
services. Revenue vehicles are replaced based on the schedule managed by the
Maintenance Department. The schedule utilizes the standards established by the
Federal Transit Administration for replacement of these vehicles. Large buses have
a useful life of twelve years or 500,000 miles, while smaller buses will have a useful
life of seven years. KCATA recognizes that by keeping the fleet age down, service to
communities will be reliable and consistent.
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• Office Equipment and Software ($15.7 million)

o IT hardware is replaced on a four-year cycle which includes servers, digital signage,
printers and computers. If equipment is determined to still be reliable, the purchase
of new equipment is deferred until replacement is needed. KCATA will also be
implementing upgrades to the software programs used in daily operations for scheduling
and asset management along with investing in new transit corridor technologies.

• Planning Expenses ($904,000)

o Planning projects for the current and future years includes a comprehensive
service analysis, a regional planning update, a transit service plan for eastern
Jackson County and a plan for the Rock Island corridor.

Certificate of Achievement for Financial Reporting 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to KCATA for its comprehensive 
annual financial report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. This was the first year that 
KCATA had submitted a CAFR for consideration and is grateful it was recognized for this very 
prestigious award from GFOA. To attain this recognition, the comprehensive annual financial 
report published by the KCATA must be easily readable and efficiently organized in compliance 
with GFOA policies, procedures and program standards. 

The certificate of achievement is valid for a one-year period. KCATA does believe the current 
report format continues to conform to the requirements of the program, and we are submitting 
our 2019 report to the GFOA for consideration of certification for the second time. 
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KCATA BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

MISSION STATEMENT

We connect people to opportunities.

VISION STATEMENT

Quality seamless regional transportation for everyone.

CORE VALUES

• Safety
• Customer service
• Fiscal accountability
• Respect and integrity
• Employee Development
• Innovation
• Community involvement

GOALS
Position KCATA to be a recognized leader in regional transportation and related
development.

Position the organization to meet current and future needs and opportunities.

Communicate KCATA's value in the vitality and economic growth of the
community and the region.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

• Provide a business approach and best practices to technology.

• Provide a system that is efficient, fiscally responsible and uses resources wisely.

• Provides a work environment that develops employees and rewards innovation and high
performance.

• Provide service that benefits the communities.

• Provide a safe and attractive system that draws new riders.

• Provide effective and innovative services that respond to change and growth.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Commissioners 
Kansas City Area Transportation Authority 

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and fiduciary fund 
type of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority (the Authority) as of and for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the basic financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. The financial statements of the Pension Trust Funds were not audited in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities and the fiduciary fund type of the Kansas City 
Area Transportation Authority, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 7 to the financial statements, the Authority adopted GASB 84, Fiduciary Activities, 
which restated beginning net position of the fiduciary fund type financial statements to include the Union 
Employees Pension Plan. The adoption was retrospectively applied to January 1, 2018, the earliest year 
presented. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and pension and other postemployment benefit plan information, as listed in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s response to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

Other Information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The combining schedules listed in the 
table of contents as supplementary information, and the other information, such as the introductory and 
statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority.  

The combining schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly 
stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The accompanying introductory and statistical sections, as listed in the table of contents, have not been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 21, 2020, 
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Kansas City, Missouri 
April 21, 2020 
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The following management’s discussion and analysis of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority’s (the 
Authority) financial performance provides an overview of the financial activities for the fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018. Please read it in conjunction with the Authority’s basic financial statements 
and notes.  

Financial Highlights for Fiscal Year 2019 vs. 2018 

• Net position of the Authority increased by $11 million or 8% in 2019 over 2018 primarily due to capital
related federal grants and funding recoveries of $26.6 million. While lower than in 2018, these recoveries
exceeded the $15.6 million decrease in net position before capital funding for 2019, a $1.1 million
decrease in net position before capital funding from 2018. The increased net loss was the result of a $7.5
million increase in expenditures offset by a $6.4 million increase in revenue from 2018 to 2019.

• In April of 2004, Kansas City, Missouri retailers began collecting the 3/8-cent sales tax approved in
November 2003 by citizens of Kansas City, Missouri (the City) to support public transit and the Authority.
The sales tax was renewed, effective April 2009, for 15 years through March 2024. A total of
$379,327,637 had been received by the Authority from the 3/8-cent sales tax from inception through
December 2019.

Financial Highlights for Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017 

• Net position of the Authority increased by $17.3 million or (14)% in 2018 over 2017 primarily attributable
to an increase of $17.4 million of capital related federal funding recovery.

• In April of 2004, Kansas City, Missouri retailers began collecting the 3/8-cent sales tax approved in
November 2003 by citizens of Kansas City, Missouri (the City) to support public transit and the Authority.
The sales tax was renewed, effective April 2009, for 15 years through March 2024. A total of
$348,789,902 had been received by the Authority from the 3/8-cent sales tax from inception through
December 2018.

• GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, was implemented during fiscal year 2018. The beginning net position for the Authority was
restated ($8,679,799) to retroactively report the total other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability as
of January 1, 2018. The financial statement amounts for fiscal year 2017 OPEB obligation, OPEB
expense and deferred inflows of resources were not restated because information was not available.

Overview of the Financial Statements  
This report consists of three parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Basic Financial Statements and 
Required Supplementary Information. The basic financial statements also include notes that provide more 
detail for some of the data presented.  

Components of the Financial Statements 

Basic Financial Statements. The Authority’s basic financial statements are prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applied to an enterprise fund 
using the accrual basis of accounting. Under this basis, revenues are recognized in the period earned and 
expenses are recognized in the period incurred.  

The Authority’s basic statements are the statements of net position, the statements of revenues, expenses 
and changes in net position and the statements of cash flows.  

The statements of net position report the difference between the Authority’s assets and liabilities, and 
provides one way to measure the Authority’s financial health or position.  
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The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position report all of the revenues earned and 
expenses incurred during the current fiscal year.  

The statements of cash flows provide information on the Authority’s cash receipts and cash payments during 
the reporting period.  

The statements of fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position provide information about the 
Authority’s Pension Trust Funds. The resources of these funds are not available to support the Authority’s 
programs or operations. These funds are comprised of the activity of the Authority’s Salaried Employees 
Retirement Plan and Union Employees Pension Plan. 

The basic financial statements can be found on pages 10–16 of this report and represent combined results 
for Fixed Route and RideKC Freedom operating divisions, as well as the RideKC Development Corporation, 
a blended component unit.  

Notes to basic financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements, such as the Authority’s accounting 
methods and policies. The notes to basic financial statements can be found on pages 17 through 44 of this 
report.  

Required supplementary information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying 
notes, this report also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the Authority’s 
progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees and also information regarding 
the Authority’s other postemployment benefit plan. Required supplementary information can be found on 
pages 45 through 55 of this report.  

Changes in Net Position 

Fiscal Year 2019 vs. 2018 
The Authority’s assets exceeded liabilities by $152.2 million as of December 31, 2019. 

The Authority’s net position primarily consists of its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, transit 
facilities and revenue vehicles) which total $142.4 million. The second largest component are the restricted 
balances of $33.2 million. Restricted funds are comprised of two types: (1) restricted for the replacement of 
capital assets and (2) 3/8-cent sales tax not yet applied to operations. Unrestricted funds decreased from 
negative $23.5 million in 2018 to a negative $23.4 million due to decreases of $2.7 million for current assets, 
and $5.4 million for designated cash and investments with an increase to deferred outflows of $260 
thousand. These were offset by decreases in current liabilities of $10.2 million primarily related to the use of 
Kansas City, Missouri funding for the Prospect MAX project and pension funds of $8.4 million along with 
increases to OPEB of $7.9 million and $3.6 million for deferred inflows. 

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017 
The Authority’s assets exceeded liabilities by $141.2 million as of December 31, 2018. 

The largest portion of the Authority’s net position, $121.3 million reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., 
land, buildings, transit facilities and revenue vehicles). The next largest portion is related to $43.4 million of 
restricted balances: (1) restricted for the replacement of capital assets and (2) 3/8-cent sales tax not yet 
applied to operations. Unrestricted net position decreased from negative $14.2 million in 2017 to a negative 
$23.5 million as increases of $3.7 million for current assets, $7.6 million for designated cash and investments 
and $3.7 million of deferred outflows for pension plans were offset by increases to liabilities of $10.1 million 
for funds due to other governments resulting primarily from Kansas City, Missouri funding for the Prospect 
MAX project, $8.6 million for OPEB and $6.4 for the pension funds. 
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2019 2018 2017

Current and other assets 65,238,206  $            82,671,603  $      77,422,597  $      
Capital assets, net 142,416,330              121,331,222        97,018,511          

Total assets 207,654,536              204,002,825        174,441,108        

Deferred outflows of resources 10,220,254                9,959,259            6,289,115            

Current and other liabilities 16,234,688                26,465,764          14,703,787          
Noncurrent liabilities 42,782,040                43,286,332          29,956,707          

Total liabilities 59,016,728                69,752,096          44,660,494          

Deferred inflows of resources 6,627,148   2,979,502            3,442,102            

Net position:
Investment in capital assets 142,416,330              121,331,222        97,018,511          
Restricted 33,240,650                43,446,962          49,797,963          
Unrestricted (23,426,066)               (23,547,698)         (14,188,847)         

Total net position 152,230,914  $          141,230,486  $    132,627,627  $    

Table 1 - Condensed Statements of Net Position
As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Fiscal Year 2019 
A portion of the Authority’s net position, $33.2 million, represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how resources may be used. The restrictions are set by sales tax legislation and contracts 
with local jurisdictions. The restricted net position includes local contributions restricted for the replacement 
of capital assets and 3/8-cent sales tax funds which have not yet been applied to operations. 

The $17.4 million or 21.1% decrease in current and other assets in 2019 compared to the prior year is 
attributable to an decrease of $900 thousand in current assets primarily related to decreases in funds due 
from Federal sources of $3.7 million and local sources of $2.3 million offset with $4.8 million increase to cash 
and investments, a decrease of $8.4 million in designated cash and investments and a decrease of $10.2 
million to non-current restricted cash and investments related to usage of local capital funds. 

Capital assets, net, increased by $21.1 million or 17.4% over 2018. The change was the result of revenue 
vehicle purchases of $4.8 million, capital projects in progress increasing by $23.7 million, equipment and 
furniture purchases of $1.0 million all reduced by a $9.1 million increase in accumulated depreciation. 

The Authority experienced a decrease of $10.2 million or 38.7% in current and other liabilities from 2018. 
This decrease was due to reductions of $1.75 million of self-insurance and workers’ compensation claims 
and $9.1 million in unearned revenue and due to other governments primarily related to Kansas City, 
Missouri funds for the Prospect MAX project. 

Noncurrent liabilities experienced a decrease of $500 thousand or 1.2% primarily due to decreases to risk 
management and workmen’s compensation claims of $856 thousand and pension obligations of $8.4 million 
along with increases to OPEB of $7.9 million and $820 thousand for health insurance accruals. 

Fiscal Year 2018 
A portion of the Authority’s net position, $43.4 million, represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how resources may be used. The restrictions are set by sales tax legislation and contracts 
with local jurisdictions. The restricted net position includes local contributions restricted for the replacement 
of capital assets and 3/8-cent sales tax funds which have not yet been applied to operations. 
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The $5.2 million or 6.8% increase in current and other assets in 2018 compared to the prior year is 
attributable to an increase of $3.8 million in current assets primarily related to funds due from Federal 
sources, an increase of $7.5 million in designated cash and investments due to increases in the operating 
liabilities fund with a decrease of $6.1 million to non-current restricted cash and investments related to usage 
of local capital funds. 

Capital assets, net, increased by $24.3 million or 25.0% over 2017. The change was the result of land and 
building purchases of $3.8 million, revenue vehicle purchases of $16.3 million, capital projects in progress 
increasing by $5.5 million, reduced by a $1.3 million increase in accumulated depreciation. 

The Authority experienced an increase of $11.8 million or 80.0% in current and other liabilities from 2017. 
This increase was due to increases of $1.9 million in accounts payable and $9.8 million in unearned revenue 
and due to other governments primarily related to Kansas City, Missouri funds for the Prospect MAX project. 

Noncurrent liabilities experienced an increase of $13.3 million or 44% primarily due to decreases to risk 
management and workmen’s compensation claims of $930 thousand and health insurance accruals of $850 
thousand along with increases to OPEB of $8.6 million and $6.4 million of pension obligation. 

2019 2018 2017
Operating revenues:

$           9,116,193  $           9,439,792  $           9,402,516  Passenger revenues 
Other 414,072       358,490            397,833  

Total operating revenues 9,530,265    9,798,282    9,800,349    

Nonoperating revenues:
3,147,679    1,143,778    700,457       

85,289,242        81,056,635        78,363,634        
26,630,317        31,790,151        14,379,078        
2,170,380    2,207,891    1,471,999    
7,513,767    7,930,604    1,778,585    

  1,852,938  1,897,960      2,039,773  

Investment income 
Operating funding
Capital related grants and funding
Federal grant revenue received for subrecipients 
Federal grant revenue received on behalf of others 
Other

Total nonoperating revenue 126,604,323        126,027,019               98,733,526 
Total revenue 136,134,588        135,825,301        108,533,875        

Operating expenses:
Transportation 51,472,113        47,429,399        48,461,292        
Maintenance 25,661,457        26,447,255        20,269,269        
Public liability and property damage claims 980,269       737,827       727,769       
General and administrative 22,524,928        20,222,826        20,265,149        
Depreciation and amortization 13,409,524        11,989,264        11,300,458        

Total operating expenses 114,048,291        106,826,571        101,023,937        

Nonoperating expenses:
Debt service reimbursement to Jackson County 1,401,722    1,401,972    1,404,472    
Federal funds passed through to subrecipients 2,170,380    2,207,891    1,471,999    
Federal funds spent on behalf of others 7,513,767    7,930,604    1,778,585    
Loss on disposal of assets - 175,605 -        
Other nonoperating expense - - 108,000       

Total expenses 125,134,160        118,542,643        105,786,993        
Change in net position 11,000,428        17,282,658        2,746,882    

Net position, beginning of the year 141,230,486        123,947,828        129,880,745        
Net position, end of year 152,230,914  $        141,230,486  $        132,627,627  $        

Table 2 - Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
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Revenues 

Fiscal Year 2019 vs. 2018 
In 2019, total revenue, which includes operating and non-operating revenues, increased by $700 thousand, 
or 0.5% when compared to 2018. Operating revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, totaled 
$9.5 million which is a $270 thousand decrease from 2018 resulting from reduced passenger revenues.  

Non-operating revenues increased by $1.0 million or 0.8% from 2018 primarily due to increases to 
investment income and operating funding. A strong market resulted in an increase of $2.0 million to 
investment income. Operating funding increased $4.2 million from 2018 primarily due to the application of 
$2.1 million of Kansas City, Missouri local capital funding as local match for federal funding related to 
preventive maintenance and $1.4 million for the Rock Island debt payment. Capital related grants funding 
decreased by $5.1 million as there were significantly fewer revenue vehicles purchased in 2019 than in 2018 
but capital projects in process increased as the Prospect MAX project neared final completion in 2019. 
Federal grants revenues received for subrecipients and on behalf of others, which are passed on, had 
virtually no change from 2018.  

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017 
In 2018, total revenue, which includes operating and non-operating revenues, increased by $27.3 million, or 
25.1% when compared to 2017. Operating revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, totaled 
$9.8 million which is virtually no change from 2017. 

Non-operating revenues increased by $27.3 million or 25.1% from 2017 due to increases to investment 
income, operating funding, capital related grants funding and federal grant revenues. Favorable markets 
resulted in an increase of $440 thousand to investment income. Operating funding increased $2.7 million 
from 2017 primarily due to additional funding received from Kansas City, Missouri in 2018. Capital related 
grants funding increased by $17.4 million due to a large purchase of revenue vehicles and increase in capital 
projects in process. Federal grants revenues received for subrecipients and on behalf of others, which are 
passed on, increased by $6.8 million as the Authority has more Johnson County service expenses being 
recovered by KCATA as are Kansas City, Missouri expenses related to the Prospect MAX project.  

Expenses 

Fiscal Year 2019 vs. 2018 
Total expenses in 2019 were $125.5 million, resulting in an increase of $7.0 million or 5.9% from 2018. 
Operating expenses were higher in 2019 as the result of $3.2 million of net costs related to services, $1.7 
million for administrative costs which were primarily related to health insurance and $1.5 million for 
depreciation. Non-operating expenses had virtually no change from 2018.  

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017 
Total expenses in 2018 were $118.5 million, resulting in an increase of $12.8 million or 12.1% from 2017. 
Operating expenses were higher in 2018 as the result of $6 million of maintenance cost and non-operating 
expenses increased as the result of $6.8 million of expenses passed through to other subrecipients or on 
behalf of others.  
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2019 2018 2017

Land 13,709,559  $      12,991,155  $      12,209,641  $      
Capital projects-in-progress 40,343,794          16,615,132          10,925,355          
Building and improvements 65,421,117          65,421,117          65,698,717          
Revenue equipment 112,873,109        108,089,588        92,402,521          
Other equipment and structures 62,744,083          62,417,123          58,432,572          
Other furniture and equipment 6,120,748            5,424,165            5,720,403            

301,212,410        270,958,280        245,389,209        
Less accumulated depreciation 158,796,080        149,627,058        148,370,698        

Net capital assets 142,416,330  $    121,331,222  $    97,018,511  $      

Table 3 - Schedules of Capital Assets
As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Capital Assets 

Fiscal Year 2019 vs. 2018 
The Authority’s investment in capital assets is $142.4 million (net of accumulated depreciation) as of 
December 31, 2019. Investments in capital assets increased by $21.1 million or 17.4% over 2018 capital 
assets.  

Capital projects-in-progress increased $23.7 million or 142% primarily due to $1.7 million for facility 
renovations/upgrades and $21.6 million for the Prospect MAX project. 

Decreases to capital projects in progress in 2019 were $13.0 million while capital assets increased by $10.8 
million including land. The primary cause of the variance is related to assets associated with the Prospect 
MAX project not being fully recognized as KCATA assets. Kansas City, Missouri funding has been used to 
construct or procure several capital assets related to the project, which are being recognized by Kansas City, 
Missouri. 

Revenue equipment increased by $4.8 million or 4.5% from 2018 due to $3.4 million related to the 
replacement of retired coaches along with $1.35 million for Metroflex vans.  

Accumulated depreciation increased $9.2 million or 6.1% as the result of depreciation expense incurred 
during 2019 less the depreciation associated with disposed assets. In 2019, depreciation related to facilities, 
passenger stations and bus stop improvements increased $4.0 million as a result of structural improvements 
performed in the Breen facility and new Prospect MAX stops along with an increase of $4.5 million of 
depreciation associated with the purchase of 38 new revenue vehicles in 2018 and the retirement of the 
older, fully depreciated fleet they replaced.  

For more detailed information on capital asset activity please refer to Note 4 Capital Assets in the Notes to 
Basic Financial Statements section of this report.  

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017 
The Authority’s investment in capital assets is $121 million (net of accumulated depreciation) as of 
December 31, 2018. Investments in capital assets increased by $24.3 million or 25.1% over 2017 capital 
assets.  

Capital projects-in-progress increased $5.7 million or 5.2% due to the Breen building renovations and the 
Prospect MAX project. 
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Decreases to capital projects in progress in 2018 were $31.5 million while capital assets increased by $30.8 
million including land. The primary cause of the variance is related to assets associated with the Prospect 
MAX project not being fully recognized as KCATA assets. Kansas City, Missouri funding has been used to 
construct or procure several capital assets related to the project, which are being recognized by Kansas City, 
Missouri. 

Revenue equipment increased by $15.7 million or 17% from 2017 related to the replacement of 38 revenue 
vehicles with new CNG revenue vehicles.  

Accumulated depreciation increased $1.26 million or .8% as the result of depreciation expense incurred 
during 2018 less the depreciation associated with disposed assets. In 2018, depreciation related to facility 
and bus stop improvements increased $3.6 million as a result of remodeling and structural improvements 
performed in the Breen facility. This increase was offset by a decrease of $2.4 million of depreciation 
associated with revenue vehicles as the result of older, fully depreciated fleet remaining in service throughout 
most of 2018 before new CNG vehicles were placed into service later in the year.  

For more detailed information on capital asset activity please refer to Note 4 Capital Assets in the Notes to 
Basic Financial Statements section of this report.  

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Operations 
Economic conditions in the region continued to be strong throughout all of 2019 and remained that way 
through the first two months of 2020. However, economic conditions in 2020 have taken a downward turn as 
the result of COVID-19. Both Kansas City, Missouri leadership and the State of Kansas were very proactive 
in restricting movement in the communities, issuing “stay at home” guidelines for their citizens. KCATA 
anticipates these guidelines will have a significant negative impact to sales tax revenues received by Kansas 
City, Missouri during the crisis, potentially reducing the amount of funding KCATA will receive from Kansas 
City, Missouri. Unemployment rates in the region continue to be low, but expectations are the local 
unemployment rates will be increasing as the result of the “stay at home” guidelines currently in place in the 
region. Increased unemployment could result in less need for local express services which currently 
transport suburban riders to Kansas City, Missouri for work. With service reductions, funding from the 
communities may also be reduced. To support the riders within the Kansas City, Missouri metropolitan area, 
KCATA and its regional partners implemented the zero-fare program which allows all riders to use services 
at no cost during the pandemic and potentially ongoing. 

In response to the COVID-19 crisis, the federal government recently passed the CARES act which include 
$25 billion for public transportation. Of that amount, the KCATA allocation for the region was in excess of $51 
million. This funding has a 100% recovery rate and can be used to recover eligible operating and capital 
expenses. Items eligible for recovery include service costs, passenger revenue loss, local funding loss and 
capital projects started after the funding eligibility date of January 20, 2020. 

As KCATA has locked in pricing for fuel, the recent reductions in fuel prices has realized some savings for 
fuel in excess of the monthly contract amount purchased at the market rate.  However, due to the locked in 
contract pricing, fuel expenditures for KCATA are expected to be relatively flat unless there is a considerable 
fluctuation in the market rate during 2020. KCATA ridership was trending downward prior to the COVID-19 
crisis and have decreased considerably since the “stay at home” guidelines were issued. Traditionally, when 
economies are down, ridership improves as individuals forego the cost of owning and maintaining a personal 
vehicle and choose to pay for more efficient and convenient modes of transportation such as the non-
traditional transportation alternatives. Passenger fares have been reduced to zero due to the COVID-19 
crisis however loss of passenger revenues is an item that is 100% recoverable from CARES Act funding.  
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The City of Kansas City, Missouri, provides 53.6% of the funds required for transit and para-transit service 
through the Public Mass Transit Fund (1/2-cent sales tax) and 3/8-cent sales tax. Anticipated sales tax 
revenues for 2020 are expected to increase by .5% based on discussions with the City. The state of 
Missouri’s fiscal year 2018/19 funding received for transit operating assistance was $329,504 and remained 
at that same amount for 2019/20. 

The federal fiscal year begins on October 1 and ends September 30. On December 4, 2015, the sitting 
President signed into law the Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (FAST Act) that was effective as 
of October 1, 2015. The FAST Act authorized transit programs for five years (FFY 2016 through FFY 2020) 
and the Authority is now in the fifth year of funding under this Act. Government operations are currently 
operating under a recently passed bill that continues funding for transit operations through September 2020. 

The Authority has continued to support regional partners in developing regional connectivity for all citizens in 
the metropolitan area through multiple modes of services including several services utilizing mobile apps to 
schedule curb-to-curb trips. These services include Freedom-on-Demand, developed and implemented by 
KCATA in 2018, which is used by both ADA and non-ADA customers and microtransit services in JCT that 
provides a smaller scale alternative to the traditional public transit service. Freedom-on-Demand services are 
still being used by both KCATA and Johnson County Transit customers and was implemented in 
Independence in 2019. Microtransit services were originally piloted by KCATA, however Johnson County 
used the information gathered in that pilot to develop a service that transports multiple passengers using taxi 
service scheduled through an application. The service has been deemed successful enough to warrant that it 
will continue through 2021. A redesign of existing KCATA services was planned for 2020 to redefine service 
delivery, however the COVID-19 crisis has caused KCATA to redesign services to accommodate the 
changes in ridership volume and needs. These same types of changes are being considered by the regional 
partners to provide services that are feasible for the existing conditions. All these changes are being 
implemented with intention of providing needed services while maintaining a financial stability. The CARES 
Act funding is critical piece to the success of the KCATA and all its regional partners throughout this crisis.  

In 2020, the Authority will be relying on the results of the service redesign along with the impacts of the 
COVID-19 crisis to make decisions impacting the long-term viability of the system including services that the 
provide the most efficient and feasible services and the continuation of the zero-fare program. During 2019, 
the RideKC Development Corporation was created to support and energize economic development 
opportunities for KCATA. Future economic development will be pursued by this group to diversify revenue 
opportunities for the KCATA through the establishment of future revenue streams. The anticipated results of 
these efforts is the assurance that the RideKC Development Corporation’s success will ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the KCATA to provide the highest level of reliable regional transportation services. 

Requests for Information 
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers and creditors with a general 
overview of the Authority’s finances. Questions concerning this report or requests for additional financial 
information should be directed to Director of Finance, Kansas City Area Transportation Authority, 1350 East 
17th Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64108, telephone number (816) 346-0241. 
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Net Position
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and investments 7,626,590 $       710,639  $          
Accounts receivable 459,084         362,978              
Due from other governments:

Local governments 952,801   3,289,329           
State governments 412,570   447,360              
Federal government 3,277,259   6,920,457           

Materials and supplies 1,540,125   1,594,882           
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,351,557   1,147,933           
Designated cash and investments 1,244,000   2,961,870           

Total current assets  16,863,986  17,435,448 

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and investments 33,240,650   43,446,962         
Designated cash and investments 15,133,570   21,789,193         
Capital assets:

Land and other nondepreciable assets 54,053,353   29,606,287         
Other depreciable capital assets, net of depreciation 88,362,977   91,724,935         

Total noncurrent assets  190,790,550  186,567,377 

Total assets 207,654,536   204,002,825       

Deferred outflows of resources:
OPEB related amounts  5,707,102 - 
Pension related amounts  4,513,152  9,959,259 

Total deferred outflows of resources  10,220,254  9,959,259 

See notes to basic financial statements.
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2019 2018
Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 6,655,071 $       6,731,556  $       
Accrued liabilities:

Payroll and benefits 2,193,668   1,799,053           
Compensated absences 3,864,716   3,545,081           
Other 7,202  58,345                
Liabilities payable from designated assets:

Public liability and property damage claims 536,000   1,439,196           
Workers' compensation claims 708,000   1,522,674           

Unearned revenue 1,163,187   8,877,110           
Due to other governments 1,106,844   2,492,749           

Total current liabilities  16,234,688  26,465,764 

Noncurrent liabilities:
Liabilities payable from designated assets:

Public liability and property damage claims 793,302   659,767              
Workers' compensation claims 1,751,082   1,028,805           

Total OPEB liability 20,728,508   12,857,805         
Net pension liability 19,066,845   27,478,442         
Compensated absences 442,303   1,261,513           

Total noncurrent liabilities  42,782,040  43,286,332 

Total liabilities  59,016,728  69,752,096 

Deferred inflows of resources:
OPEB related amounts  508,723  602,734 
Pension related amounts  6,118,425  2,376,768 

Total deferred inflows of resources  6,627,148  2,979,502 

Net position
Investment in capital assets 142,416,330   121,331,222       
Restricted for capital and operating purposes 33,240,650   43,446,962         
Unrestricted (deficit) (23,426,066)   (23,547,698)        

Total net position 152,230,914 $   141,230,486  $   
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Operating revenues:

Passenger 9,029,898 $       9,437,354  $       
Charter and stadium express 86,295         2,438   
Advertising 414,072         358,490              

Total operating revenues  9,530,265  9,798,282 

Operating expenses:
Transportation 51,472,113   47,429,399         
Maintenance 25,661,457   26,447,255         
Public liability and property damage claims 980,269   737,827              
General and administrative 22,524,928   20,222,826         
Depreciation 13,409,524   11,989,264         

Total operating expenses  114,048,291  106,826,571 

Operating loss (104,518,026)   (97,028,289)        

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Grants and funding used for operations:

Local governments 72,495,594   67,593,420         
State government 411,740   410,284              
Federal government 12,381,908   13,052,931         

Federal grant revenue received for subrecipients 2,170,380   2,207,891           
Federal funds passed through to subrecipients (2,170,380)   (2,207,891)          
Federal grant revenue, received on behalf of others 7,513,767   7,930,604           
Federal funds spent on behalf of others (7,513,767)   (7,930,604)          
Investment income 3,147,679   1,143,778           
Debt service reimbursement to Jackson County (1,401,722)   (1,401,972)          
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets 164,510   (175,605)             
Rental and other nonoperating income 1,688,428   1,897,960           

Total net nonoperating revenues  88,888,137  82,520,796 

Decrease in net position before capital funding (15,629,889)   (14,507,493)        

Capital related grants and funding 26,630,317   31,790,151         

Change in net position  11,000,428  17,282,658 

Net position, beginning of year  141,230,486  123,947,828 

Net position, end of year 152,230,914 $   141,230,486  $   

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from passengers and advertisers 1,720,236  $       17,797,206  $     
Payments for payroll and related fringe benefits (57,536,644)        (57,587,094)        
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (41,334,820)        (34,623,498)        

Net cash used in operating activities (97,151,228)        (74,413,386)        

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Grants and other funding used for operations  91,303,758  75,226,923 
Funding used for debt service payments  1,401,722  1,401,972 
Debt service payments to Jackson County (1,401,722)          (1,401,972)          

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities  91,303,758  75,226,923 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchases of capital assets (36,090,553)        (34,319,939)        
Proceeds from sale of capital assets  209,467  9,055 
Capital grants and funding  26,630,317  31,790,151 

Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities (9,250,769)          (2,520,733)          

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received  1,482,521  906,846 
Purchases of investments (13,428,482)        (27,810,361)        
Sales and maturities of investments  28,263,160  26,364,099 
Rental and other receipts  286,706  495,988 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  16,603,905 (43,428)               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,505,666 (1,750,624)          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  4,418,269  6,168,893 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,923,935  $       4,418,269  $       

(Continued)
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash (used in) 

operating activities:
Operating loss (104,518,026) $  (97,028,289)  $    
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in 

operating activities:
Depreciation  13,409,524  11,989,264 
Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (96,106)    326,965 
(Increase) decrease in materials and supplies and prepaid expenses (148,867)    186,311 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,318,376 (1,322,792)          
(Decrease) increase in unearned revenue (7,713,923)    7,671,959 
(Decrease) in self-insurance liabilities payable (862,058)   (932,117)             
(Decrease) increase in due to other governments (1,385,905)    2,492,749 
Increase in OPEB related amounts  2,069,590  516,143 
Increase in pension related amounts  776,167  1,686,421 

Net cash used in operating activities (97,151,228) $    (74,413,386)  $    

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statements of
net position:
Cash and investments 7,626,590 $   710,639  $          
Restricted cash and investments  33,240,650  43,446,962 
Designated cash and investments  16,377,570  24,751,063 

Total cash and investments 57,244,810 $   68,908,664  $     

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to specific assets
on the statement of net position:
Cash and investments 57,244,810 $   68,908,664  $     
Less investments not meeting the definition of cash equivalents  51,320,875  64,490,395 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,923,935 $   4,418,269  $       

Supplemental schedules of noncash items:
Noncash investing activities, increase in fair value of

investments 1,665,158 $   236,932  $          

Noncash capital and related financing activities, capital assets
acquired through accounts payable (1,550,964) $   2,166,696  $       

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Fiduciary Net Position—Pension Trust Funds
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2018
2019 (as Restated)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 100,443 $       3,803  $           

Investments:
Common stock  8,140,362  5,597,995 
Equity funds  7,208,271  6,312,840 
U.S. agencies  123,934  537,497 
Debt funds  384,461  595,174 
Corporate bonds  2,161,191  1,758,585 
U.S. treasury  1,624,665  1,516,424 
Municipal bonds  50,244  49,993 
Money market  713,256  767,016 
Common collective trusts  52,870,098  47,264,731 

Total investments  73,276,482  64,400,255 

Other receivables  228,720  325,855 

Accrued interest and dividends - 91,154

Total assets  73,605,645  64,821,067 

Liabilities

Accrued administrative expenses  227,357  201,651 

Fiduciary net position restricted for pension benefits
held in trust 73,378,288 $  64,619,416  $  

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position—Pension Trust Funds
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2018
2019 (as Restated)

Additions:
Employer contributions 3,927,339 $       3,862,649  $       
Participant contributions  1,233,911        1,223,924 

5,161,250   5,086,573           

Transfer from the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority 
Union Employees' Funded Pension Plan  93,569 47,189                

Investment income (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) of fair value of investments,

net of investment expense  10,678,617 (3,820,981)          
Interest and dividends  520,590  726,517 

Total investment earnings  11,199,207 (3,094,464)          
Less investment expense  150,737  299,933 

Net investment income (loss)  11,048,470 (3,394,397)          

Total additions  16,303,289  1,739,365 

Deductions:
Benefits paid to participants  7,177,119  5,195,192 
Administrative expenses  367,298  150,010 

Total deductions  7,544,417  5,345,202 

Net increase (decrease)  8,758,872 (3,605,837)          

Net position held in trust for pension benefits:
Beginning of year, as restated  64,619,416  68,225,253 

End of year 73,378,288 $     64,619,416  $     

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Note 1. Nature of Operations, Reporting Entity, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of operations: The Kansas City Area Transportation Authority (the Authority) serves four Missouri 
counties and three Kansas counties as a corporate body and political subdivision of the states of Missouri 
and Kansas. The Authority was established in 1965, approved by the United States Congress in 1966, and 
commenced operations in 1969, providing mass transportation service, primarily via bus, to the greater 
Kansas City metropolitan area. The Board of Commissioners consists of five members from the state of 
Missouri and five from the state of Kansas. The Kansas Commissioners representing Johnson and 
Leavenworth counties are appointed by their respective County Commissions (2) and the Commissioners 
representing the Wyandotte County jurisdiction are appointed by the City Commissioners of the Unified 
Government of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kansas (3). The Missouri Commissioners are appointed 
by the Mayor of Kansas City, Missouri (3), the Governor of Missouri (1) and the Jackson County 
Executive (1). 

Reporting entity: The Authority has considered all potential organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationships with the Authority are such that exclusion would cause the Authority’s 
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has 
set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These criteria include appointing 
a majority of an organization’s governing body, and (1) the ability of the Authority to impose its will on that 
organization or (2) the potential for that organization to provide specific benefits to or impose specific 
financial burdens on the Authority. Based on these criteria, the RideKC Development Corporation has 
been included in the accompanying basic financial statements as a blended component unit. 

RideKC Development Corporation, a not-for-profit corporation, was formed in February 2018 to promote 
and facilitate transit-oriented development in the Kansas City metropolitan area. The Board of Directors 
are appointed by Kansas City Area Transportation Authority. Board members are a combination of 
members on the KCATA’s Board of Commissioners and members from the surrounding community who 
work in either Kansas or Missouri. RideKC Development Corporation has a December 31 year-end. 
RideKC Development Corporation is presented as a blended component unit as it provides services 
exclusively to KCATA. 

Measurement focus and basis of accounting: The Authority accounts for its activities as an enterprise 
fund. The accompanying basic financial statements have been prepared using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting under which revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recorded when liabilities are incurred. Grants and similar items are recognized 
as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Expenditure-
driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all 
other eligibility requirements have been met.  

The financial statements of the Authority are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applied to business-type activities. The Government Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) is the standard-setting body for governmental accounting and financial reporting. The GASB 
periodically updates its codification of the existing Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards, which, along with subsequent GASB pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations), 
constitutes GAAP for governmental units. 
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Note 1. Nature of Operations, Reporting Entity, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Fiduciary fund type: The Authority also includes pension trust funds, fiduciary fund type, in its basic 
financial statements. Pension trust funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as the 
enterprise fund, using the same measurement focus and basis of accounting. Plan member contributions 
are recognized in the period in which contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plan are 
recognized when due. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. The Pension Trust Funds account for the assets of the Authority’s Salaried Employees 
Pension Plan and Union Employees Pension Plan.  

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

Materials and supplies inventories: Materials and supplies inventories, consisting of bus parts, office 
supplies and maintenance supplies, are stated at average cost. 

Prepaid expenses: Certain payments to vendors reflecting costs applicable to future accounting periods, 
such as the cost of insurance policies, have been recorded as prepaid expenses in the Authority’s basic 
financial statements. 

Capital assets: Capital assets with an initial cost of $1,000 or more and useful life greater than one year 
are recorded at cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value as of the date of donation. 
Capital assets, except for land and capital projects-in-progress, are depreciated over their respective 
useful lives using the straight-line method as follows: 

Buildings and improvements 10–45  years
Revenue equipment   4–12  years
Office furniture and equipment and other equipment and structures   3–15  years

Expenditures for renewals and betterments that increase property lives are capitalized. Maintenance and 
repair costs are charged to operations as incurred. When assets are retired or sold, historical cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss, net of any 
proceeds, is reflected in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets are expensed as incurred. 

Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
are demand deposit accounts, money market funds and securities with an original maturity of three 
months or less at the date of purchase. 

Investments: The Authority’s investments are reported at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific 
measurement. For some assets and liabilities, observable market transactions or market information 
might be available; for others, it might not be available. However, the objective of a fair value 
measurement in both cases is the same—that is, to determine the price at which an orderly transaction to 
sell the asset or to transfer the liability would take place between the market and participants at the 
measurement date under current market conditions. Fair value is an exit price at the measurement date 
from the perspective of a market participant that controls the asset or is obligated for the liability. 
Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is recorded on the 
accrual basis. See Note 2 for additional information regarding fair value measures. 
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Note 1. Nature of Operations, Reporting Entity, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Compensated absences: Under the terms of the Authority’s personnel policy, employees are granted 
vacation and sick leave in varying amounts. The liability for vacation pay is recorded as an expense in the 
period in which the vacation is earned. Sick pay may be carried forward indefinitely and 50% of any 
unused sick leave is paid at the time of retirement or death. The estimated amount to be paid to 
employees at the time of retirement or death is included in accrued compensated absences. Salaried 
employees hired after June 2016 are not eligible for sick pay benefit at the time of retirement.  

Pensions: Measurement of the net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Salaried Employees 
Pension Plan and Union Employees Pension Plan and additions to/deductions from these fiduciary net 
positions has been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, 
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Deferred outflows of resources: Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position 
that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until 
then. Deferred outflows of resources consist of unrecognized items not yet charged to pension expense 
and OPEB expense.  

Deferred inflows of resources: Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position 
that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time. Deferred inflows of resources include pension related amounts not yet recognized against pension 
expense and OPEB expense.  

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported on the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Net position classifications: In the basic financial statements, net position is classified into the three 
components: 

Investment in capital assets—consisting of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation. 

Restricted net position—consisting of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 
(1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments;
or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The Authority first utilizes restricted
resources to finance qualifying activities.

Unrestricted net position—All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” or 
“investment in capital assets.” 

Unearned revenues: Unearned revenues consist of passenger ridership revenue that has not yet been 
earned. The Authority recognizes this revenue once it has been earned. Unearned revenues also primarily 
consist of revenue from other governmental agencies, for which all eligibility requirements have not yet 
been satisfied. The Authority recognizes this revenue once those requirements have been met.  
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Note 1. Nature of Operations, Reporting Entity, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Operating revenues and expenses: Operating revenues of the Authority principally consist of user 
charges for bus and shuttle services, as well as advertising revenue. Nonoperating revenues include 
reimbursements for operating and capital expenses from local, state and federal sources, including those 
passed through to subrecipients, interest earned on the Authority’s cash and investments and a variety of 
other miscellaneous items. Operating expenses include the cost of operations and services, administrative 
expenses and depreciation on capital assets.  

Reclassifications: Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to be consistent with current year 
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the change in net position or total net position.  

Note 2. Cash and Investments 
The Authority has separate investment policies and investment accounts by purpose of the investments. 
These investment accounts are the Self-Insurance Account, Capital Account, Operating Account and 3/8-
cent Transit Sales Tax Account. As of December 31, 2019, the Authority had the following investments, by 
account:  

Less Greater Moody's Standard &

Fair Value Than 1 1 - 2 2 - 5 Than 5 Rating Poor's Rating

Self-insurance account:

U.S. agencies 1,292,254  $          324,870  $            -$  967,384  $  -$  Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 3,406,507              - 380,472 2,213,592               812,443                Aaa N/A

Taxable municipal bonds 274,915   - - 94,564   180,351                Aa2 AA+

Mutual Funds 64,698   64,698   - - - N/A N/A

Corporate Bonds 196,048   - - 90,803   105,245                A3 A

Corporate Bonds 404,077   - 181,393 122,015   100,669                A2 A-

Corporate Bonds 658,464   - 311,367 242,567   104,530                A2 A

Corporate Bonds 99,380   - - 99,380   - Aa1 AA+

Corporate Bonds 60,190   60,190   - - - A3 BBB+

Corporate Bonds 370,794   - 170,352 200,442   - A1 A

Corporate Bonds 180,593   - - 87,823   92,770   A3 A-

Corporate Bonds 290,133   - - 290,133   - Aa3 AA-

Corporate Bonds 97,405   - - - 97,405   A1 A-

Corporate Bonds 100,049   100,049                - - - Aa3 A+

Corporate Bonds 230,991   70,975   - 80,214 79,802   A1 A+

Corporate Bonds 104,300   - - 104,300 - A2 A+

Corporate Bonds 127,638   - - 127,638 - A1 AA-

Corporate Bonds 149,940   - 149,940 - - Aa2 AA-

Corporate Bonds 154,380   - 154,380 - - Aa2 A+

Accrued interest (at cost) 47,635   - - - - N/A N/A

Total self-insurance

account 8,310,391  $          620,782  $            1,347,904  $         4,720,855  $           1,573,215  $         

Operating account:

U.S. agencies 2,442,131  $          474,769  $            1,223,089  $         744,273  $              -$  Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 6,762,946              924,626                1,549,301             3,441,102               847,917                N/A N/A

Mutual funds 85,330   85,330   - - - N/A N/A

Accrued interest (at cost) 32,548   - - - - N/A N/A

Total operating account 9,322,955  $          1,484,725  $         2,772,390  $         4,185,375  $           847,917  $            

3/8-cent transit sales tax 

account:

U.S. agencies 2,794,406  $          474,652  $            -$  2,319,754  $           -$  Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 10,486,690            - 2,925,054 4,717,477               2,844,159             N/A N/A

Mutual funds 177,851   177,851                - - - N/A N/A

Accrued interest (at cost) 58,109   - - - - N/A N/A

Total 3/8-cent transit

sales tax account 13,517,056  $        652,503  $            2,925,054  $         7,037,231  $           2,844,159  $         

Investment Maturities (in Years)
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 
Fair Value Than 1 1 - 2 2 - 5 Than 5 Rating Poor's Rating

Capital account:

U.S. agencies 2,394,335  $          299,820  $            502,780  $            1,591,735  $           -$  Aaa AA+

U.S. agencies 325,007   - - 325,007   - WR AA+

U.S. agencies 148,454   148,454                - - - N/A N/A

U.S. treasury notes 7,882,042              - - 6,062,406 1,819,636             Aaa N/A

Taxable municipal bonds 130,930   - - 130,930   - Aa1 AA+

Taxable municipal bonds 286,898   - 286,898 - - A3 A

Taxable municipal bonds 250,703   - - - 250,703                Aa2 AA+

Taxable municipal bonds 288,945   - - 288,945   - N/A N/A

Taxable municipal bonds 241,427   - - - 241,427                Aa2 AA-

Taxable municipal bonds 220,191   - - - 220,191                Aa3 AA-

Mutual funds 43,190   43,190   - - - N/A N/A

Corporate bonds 2,225,337              - 832,294 1,393,043               - A2 A

Corporate bonds 835,503   - - 572,390   263,113                A3 A

Corporate bonds 793,076   - 287,205 254,198   251,673                A2 A-

Corporate bonds 303,024   - - 303,024   - Aa1 AA+

Corporate bonds 536,438   - - 265,868   270,570                A1 A-

Corporate bonds 634,161   - - 634,161   - Aa3 AA-

Corporate bonds 552,913   - - 252,775   300,138                A3 A-

Corporate bonds 713,467   - - 713,467   - A1 A+

Corporate bonds 255,458   - - 255,458   - A2 A+

Corporate bonds 313,590   - - - 313,590                Aa3 A

Corporate bonds 245,064   - - 245,064   - A1 AA-

Corporate bonds 299,880   - 299,880 - - Aa2 AA-

Corporate bonds 251,103   - - - 251,103                A1 A

Corporate bonds 257,301   - 257,301 - - Aa2 A+

Accrued interest (at cost) 113,105   - - - - N/A N/A

Total capital account 20,541,542  $        491,464  $            2,466,358  $         13,288,471  $         4,182,144  $         

As of December 31, 2018, the Authority had the following investments, by account: 

Less Greater Moody's Standard &

Fair Value Than 1 1 - 2 2 - 5 Than 5 Rating Poor's Rating

Self-insurance account:

U.S. agencies 1,161,750  $          -$  319,825  $            642,463  $              199,462  $            Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 3,315,036              123,528                392,524                1,568,396               1,230,588             N/A N/A

Taxable municipal bonds 90,567   - - - 90,567   NR AA+

Mutual funds 17,952   17,952   - - - N/A N/A

Corporate bonds 2,018,393              148,022                665,690                861,611   343,070                A A

Corporate bonds 447,475   - 98,345 251,480   97,650   Aa A

Corporate bonds 309,546   309,546                - - - NR A

Corporate bonds 362,996   362,996                - - - A AA

Corporate bonds 751,987   208,402                98,683   343,819   101,083                Aa AA

Corporate bonds 58,954   - 58,954 - - A3 BBB+

Corporate bonds 63,581   - - - 63,581   Baa1 BBB+

Accrued interest (at cost) 43,298   - - - - N/A N/A

Total self-insurance

account 8,641,535  $          1,170,446  $         1,634,021  $         3,667,769  $           2,126,001  $         

Operating account:

U.S. agencies 3,408,186  $          1,070,656  $         467,092  $            1,870,438  $           -$  Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 11,937,289            5,965,765             2,246,297             2,630,529               1,094,698             N/A N/A

Mutual funds 1,475,316              1,475,316             - - - N/A N/A

Accrued interest (at cost) 52,086   - - - - N/A N/A

Total operating account 16,872,877  $        8,511,737  $         2,713,389  $         4,500,967  $           1,094,698  $         

3/8-cent transit sales tax 

account:

U.S. agencies 3,898,924  $          1,341,619  $         467,372  $            1,790,740  $           299,193  $            Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 13,630,501            2,579,866             740,750                8,116,161               2,193,724             N/A N/A

Mutual funds 953,432   953,432                - - - N/A N/A

Accrued interest (at cost) 76,926   - - - - N/A N/A

Total 3/8-cent transit

sales tax account 18,559,783  $        4,874,917  $         1,208,122  $         9,906,901  $           2,492,917  $         

Investment Maturities (in Years)
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Less Greater Moody's Standard &

Fair Value Than 1 1 - 2 2 - 5 Than 5 Rating Poor's Rating

Capital account:

U.S. agencies 2,991,506  $          -$  294,999  $            2,098,121  $           598,386  $            Aaa AA+

U.S. treasury notes 10,163,693            - 367,991 7,345,232               2,450,470             N/A N/A

Taxable municipal bonds 320,229   - 320,229 - - NR AA

Taxable municipal bonds 126,744   - - - 126,744                Aa1 AA+

Taxable municipal bonds 276,733   - - - 276,733                Aa2 AA-

Taxable municipal bonds 230,017   - - - 230,017                Aa2 AA+

Other 178,871   - - - 178,871                NR NR

Mutual funds 54,138   54,138   - - - N/A N/A

Corporate bonds 5,358,958              296,043                1,258,804             1,931,936               1,872,175             A A

Corporate bonds 839,465   - 295,035 251,480   292,950                Aa A

Corporate bonds 218,027   218,027                - - - A AA

Corporate bonds 1,626,317              - 444,987 878,082   303,248                Aa AA

Corporate bonds 196,514   - 196,514 - - A3 BBB+

Corporate bonds 220,092   - - - 220,092                Baa1 BBB+

Accrued interest (at cost) 115,734   - - - - N/A N/A

Total capital account 22,917,038  $        568,208  $            3,178,559  $         12,504,851  $         6,549,686  $         

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Authorized investments: The Authority was created as “a political subdivision of the states of Missouri 
and Kansas.” There are no statutory restrictions on the deposits or investments of the Authority’s funds. 
Pursuant to its investment policies, the Authority is limited to investments that are issued or guaranteed by 
the U.S. Government or Government Sponsored Enterprise (GSE) for the 3/8-cent transit sales tax 
account. For the self-insurance and capital accounts, investment grade bonds are also allowable 
investments. Mutual funds may be used for reserves. 

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect 
the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment means the greater the 
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair 
value losses arising from rising interest rates, the Authority limits the final maturity of its investment 
portfolio to seven years or less for the Self-insurance Account, with a minimum of $2 million invested with 
a maximum average maturity of two years or less. The Authority’s policy over the 3/8-cent Transit Sales 
Tax Account and the Capital Account states that investment maturities are determined by staff based on 
expenditure projections.  

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Authority’s investment to market interest rate 
fluctuations is provided by the previous tables that show the distribution of the Authority’s investments by 
maturity. The mutual funds are not subject to interest rate risk given they have no maturity dates. 

Credit risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that the issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. The December 31, 2019 and 2018 ratings are listed in the above tables. 

Concentration of credit risk: The Authority manages its concentration of credit risk by limiting the 
amount invested in GSE to 75% of its portfolio, with a maximum of 20% per issuer. The following 
investments were 5% or more of the Authority’s investments as of December 31, 2019: 

Federal National Mortgage Association 5,019,255  $        10%
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 
The following investments were 5% or more of the Authority’s investments as of December 31, 2018: 

Federal Home Loan Bank Note 3,584,109  $        5%
Federal National Mortgage Association 5,020,447          8 

Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds are 
not subject to concentration of credit risk. 

Custodial credit risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments 
is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. broker-dealer) to a transaction, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of another party. As of December 31, 2019, none of the Authority’s bank balances with 
financial institutions was uninsured and uncollateralized. As of December 31, 2019, the Authority had 
$51,069,478 exposed to custodial credit risk for investments that were uninsured and unregistered held by 
the counterparty or agent but not in the Authority’s name. The Authority had $371,069 of investments in 
mutual funds not exposed to custodial credit risk. 

As of December 31, 2018, none of the Authority’s bank balances with financial institutions was uninsured 
and uncollateralized. As of December 31, 2018, the Authority had $64,490,395 exposed to custodial credit 
risk for investments that were uninsured and unregistered held by the counterparty or agent but not in the 
Authority’s name. The Authority had $2,500,838 of investments in mutual funds not exposed to custodial 
credit risk. 

Fair value measurements: The Authority categorizes it assets and liabilities measured at fair value within 
the hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Assets and liabilities valued at fair 
value are categorized based on inputs to valuation techniques as follows: 

Level 1 input: Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market that an entity has the 
ability to access. 

Level 2 input: Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and inputs that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or 
liability. 

Level 3 input: Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability which are typically based upon the 
Authority’s own assumptions as there is little, if any, related market activity. 

Hierarchy: The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to 
Level 3 inputs. 

Inputs: If the fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using inputs from more than one level of the 
fair value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 
For the Authority, the following fair value techniques were utilized in measuring the fair value of its 
investments: 

Corporate bonds: These investments are reported at fair value based on evaluation using market 
sources and integrating relative credit information, observed market movements, and sector news into the 
evaluated pricing applications and models. 

U.S. treasury notes and mutual funds: These investments are reported at fair value based on quoted 
market prices obtained from exchanges.  

U.S. Government agency securities: U.S. Government securities are reported at fair value based on 
bullet (noncall) spread scale for each issuer for maturities going out to 40 years. These spreads represent 
credit risk and are obtained from the new issue market, secondary trading, and dealer quotes. 

Municipal bonds: These investments are reported at fair value based on trades, bid price or spread, two-
sided markets, quotes, benchmark curves, including but not limited to, treasury benchmarks and LIBOR 
and swap curves, market data feeds such as MSRB, financial statements, discount rate, capital rates and 
trustee reports.  

An Option Adjusted Spread (OAS) model is incorporated to adjust spreads of issues that have early 
redemption features. Final spreads are added to a U.S. Treasury curve. A cash discounting yield/price 
routine calculates prices from final yields to accommodate odd coupon payment dates typical of medium-
term notes. 

The Authority has no assets reported at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and no other investments 
meeting the fair value disclosure requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 72. 

Quoted
Prices

in Active Significant
Fair Markets Other Significant

Value at for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs

2019 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments by fair value level securities:

U.S. agencies 9,396,587  $       -$        9,396,587  $       -$        
U.S. treasury notes 28,538,185    28,538,185    -    -    
Mortgage -    -    -    -    
Taxable municipal bonds 1,694,009       - 1,694,009 -    
Corporate bonds 11,440,697    - 11,440,697 -    
Mutual funds 371,069          - 371,069 -    

Total securities 51,440,547 $     28,538,185 $     22,902,362 $     -$             

Fair Value Measurement Using
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Quoted
Prices

in Active Significant
Fair Markets Other Significant

Value at for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs

2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments by fair value level securities:

U.S. agencies 11,460,366 $     -$        11,460,366  $     -$        
U.S. treasury notes 39,046,519    39,046,519    -    -    
Mortgage 178,871          - 178,871 -    
Taxable municipal bonds 1,044,290       - 1,044,290 -    
Corporate bonds 12,472,305    - 12,472,305 -    
Mutual funds 2,500,838       2,500,838       -    -    

Total securities 66,703,189 $     41,547,357 $     25,155,832 $     -$             

Fair Value Measurement Using

Salaried employee pension trust fund: UMB, N.A. has discretionary authority concerning the purchases 
of investments in the Salaried Plan subject to the overall investment policy guidelines as approved by the 
Board of Commissioners.  

Investment valuation and income recognition: Investments are recorded at fair value, except for 
money market funds, which are recorded at amortized cost. Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  

All investments of the Salaried Plan are invested in common stocks, U.S. agencies, U.S. treasuries, 
corporate bonds, municipal bonds, money market accounts and mutual funds (debt and equity) through 
UMB Bank, N.A. The Equity Funds consist of mutual funds that comprise common and convertible stocks. 
The Debt Funds consist of mutual funds that comprise United States government and agency securities, 
corporate bonds and commercial paper. The Money Market Fund consists of investments similar to the 
Debt Funds; however, the maturity date of the Money Market Fund investments is less than one year. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Salaried Plan had the following investments. Those equity 
investments that represent 5% or more of the Salaried Plan’s net position are presented separately. All 
corporate bonds are presented separately. 

2019 2018

Moody's Standard & Moody's Standard &

Investment Type Balance Rating Poor's Rating Balance Rating Poor's Rating

Common Stock 8,140,362  $           N/A N/A 5,597,995  $           N/A N/A

Mutual Funds:

Equity Funds:

Vanguard Developed Markets  1,360,411            N/A N/A  1,152,825            N/A N/A

Vanguard Institutional Index  1,266,642            N/A N/A  1,174,536            N/A N/A

Other equity funds  4,581,218            N/A N/A  3,985,479            N/A N/A

7,208,271               6,312,840               

Debt Funds  384,461 Not Rated Not Rated  595,174 Not Rated Not Rated

Corporate Bonds:

Altria Group Inc. 51,818    A3  BBB 51,102    A3  BBB 

Ameriprise 125,799    A3  A 128,179    A3  A 

Apple Inc. 102,297    Aa1  AA+ 98,886    Aa1  AA+ 

BB&T Corporation - -           -           29,791    A2  A- 

Bank America Corp 127,442    A2  A- 122,896    A2  A- 

Carnival Corp Sr NT 101,499    A3  A- 101,289    A3  A- 

FHLMC Corp 36,594    Aaa  AA+ - -           -           

FNMA Corp 29,050    Aaa  AA+ - -           -           

Goldman Sachs Group Inc. Medium Term 166,645    A3  BBB+ 157,482    A3  BBB+ 

GNMA Pass-thru X Platinum 14,703    Aaa  AA+ 21,677    Aaa  AA+ 

Home Depot Inc. 102,753    A2  A 102,985    A2  A 

JPMorgan Chase & Co Sr - -           -           73,907    A2  A- 

JPMorgan Chase & Co 134,798    A2  A- 51,058    A2  A- 

Lilly Eli & Co Nt 101,290    A2  A+ 98,209    A2  A+ 

Macys 75,694    Baa3  BBB- - -           -           

Masco Corp 31,029    Baa3  BBB - -           -           

Mastercard Inc. 104,360    A1  A+ - -           -           

Microsoft Corp NT 106,459    Aaa  AAA 102,976    Aaa  AAA 

Morgan Stanley 107,645    A3  A+ - -                         -                         

Pepsico Inc. Sr 103,186    A1  A+ 100,041    A1  A+ 

Salesforce 130,028    A3  A 125,642    A3  A- 

US Bancorp Mtns BK Ent 126,983    A1  A+ 123,101    A1  A+ 

Walmart 102,173    Aa2  AA 97,493    Aa2  AA 

Walt Disney Co 101,492    A2  A 97,121    A2  A+ 

Wells Fargo & Co New Medium Term Sr 77,454    A2  A- 74,750    A2  A- 

2,161,191             1,758,585             

U.S. Agencies:

Federal Home Loan 96,767    Aaa  AA+ 227,175    Aaa  AA+ 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation - -           -           241,118    Aaa  AA+ 

Federal National Mortgage Association 26,045    Aaa  AA+ 40,316    Aaa  AA+ 

Government National Mortgage

Association 1,122    Aaa  AA+ 28,888    Aaa  AA+ 

123,934   537,497   

U.S. Treasury 1,624,665               NA NA 1,516,424               NA NA

Municipal Bonds 50,244   A1 AA 49,993   A1 AA

Federated Funds Group Government Obligations 713,256   NA NA 767,016   NA NA
20,406,384  $         17,135,524  $         
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect 
the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer maturity of an investment means the greater the 
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The Salaried Plan’s investment policy does 
not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from 
increasing interest rates.  

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Salaried Plan’s investments to market interest 
rate fluctuations is provided by the following tables that show the distribution of the Salaried Plan’s 
investments by maturity. Common stocks, mutual funds (equity and debt funds) and money market funds 
are not subject to interest rate risk given they have no maturity dates. 

Less Greater Fair Value
Security Description Balance Than 1 1-5 6-10 Than 10 Hierarchy

Investments reported at fair value: 
Common stock 8,140,362  $     -$        -$  -$  -$  1
Mutual funds:

Equity funds 7,208,271     -    -       -    -    1
Debt funds 384,461        -    -       -    -    1

Corporate bonds 2,161,191     227,298    1,490,416       443,477    - 2
U.S. agencies 123,934        1,122        86,310        - 36,502 2
Municipal bonds 50,244          50,244      -       -    -    2
U.S. Treasury 1,624,665     - 1,527,041 97,624      - 1

Investments reported at amortized
cost:
Money market fund 713,256        -    -       -    -    N/A

20,406,384 $   278,664  $    3,103,767  $   541,101  $    36,502  $      

Less Greater Fair Value
Security Description Balance Than 1 1-5 6-10 Than 10 Hierarchy

Investments reported at fair value: 
Common stock 5,597,995  $     -$        -$  -$  -$  1
Mutual funds:

Equity funds 6,312,840     -    -       -    -    1
Debt funds 595,174        -    -       -    -    1

Corporate bonds 1,758,585     - 1,758,585 -    -    2
U.S. agencies 537,497        - 414,374 81,204      41,919      2
Municipal bonds 49,993          - 49,993 -    -    2
U.S. Treasury 1,516,424     - 1,260,945 255,479    - 1

Investments reported at amortized
cost:
Money market fund 767,016        -    -       -    -    N/A

17,135,524 $   -$        3,483,897  $   336,683  $    41,919$      

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018
Investment Maturities (in Years)

Investment Maturities (in Years)
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Credit risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that the issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. The December 31, 2019 and 2018 ratings are listed on the previous page. It 
is the Salaried Plan’s policy that purchases of individual fixed income assets and bond mutual funds must 
be rated A3/A- or better by one major credit rating agency. 

Concentration of credit risk: The Plan’s investment policy is to apply the prudent-person rule: 
Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons 
of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for 
speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable 
income to be derived. It is the Salaried Plan’s policy that the portfolio should be well diversified in an 
attempt to reduce the overall risk of the portfolio. The policy specifically places the following constraints on 
the following specific asset classes: 

Small cap Maximum 20% of total portfolio
Foreign Maximum 30% of total portfolio
Large cap Minimum 20% and maximum 40% of total portfolio
Mid cap Maximum 20% of total portfolio

Mutual funds may be used for these asset classes. The policy places no limit on the amount the Salaried 
Plan may invest in any one issuer. Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government 
and investments in mutual funds are not subject to concentration of credit risk. 

Custodial credit risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments 
is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in 
possession of another party. The Plan does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Plan’s corporate bonds, common stock, municipal bonds and U.S. 
agencies were uninsured investments, but the securities were held by the counterparty’s trust department 
or agent in the name of the Salaried Plan. The equity funds, debt funds, U.S. Treasury and money market 
funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk. The Salaried Plan’s investments during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 did not differ significantly from these at the respective year-ends in amounts 
or level of risk. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Union employee pension trust fund: All of the Union Plan’s investments are in common collective 
trusts, which are measured at net asset value and not assigned a level in the fair value hierarchy.  

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Union Plan had the following investments. All funds within the 
common collective trust are presented separately. 

Standard Standard 
Fair Moody’s & Poor’s Fair Moody’s & Poor’s

Investment Type Value Rating Rating Value Rating Rating
Investments measured at net asset value: 

Common collective trusts:
Russell Multi Mgr Bond Fund 20,969,685 $ Not rated Not rated 14,686,989 $ Not rated Not rated
Russell Short Term Investment Fund  5,640 Not rated Not rated  3,704 Not rated Not rated
Russell Multi Asset Core Fund  31,894,773 Not rated Not rated  32,574,038 Not rated Not rated

52,870,098 $ 47,264,731 $ 

2019 2018

The following table sets forth additional disclosures of the Union Plan’s investments whose fair value is 
estimated using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

Unfunded Redemption Redemption 
Investment 2019 2018 Commitments Frequency Notice Period 

Common collective 
trusts (A) 52,870,098  $     47,264,731  $     -$  Quarterly None

Fair Value at December 31

(A) These funds aim to generate consistent absolute returns by investing in assets with a diversified
group of investment managers through managed account structures.

Credit risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that the issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. The December 31, 2019 and 2018, ratings are listed in the table above. The 
Union Plan does not have a policy for credit risk.  

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect 
the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment means the greater the 
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The Union Plan’s investment policy does not 
limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from 
increasing interest rates. The investments in the common collective trusts are not subject to interest rate 
risk given they have no maturity dates. 

Concentration of credit risk: The Union Plan’s investment policy is to apply the prudent-person rule: 
Investments shall be made with the judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which 
persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for 
speculation but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable 
income to be derived. It is the Union Plan’s policy that the portfolio should be well diversified in an attempt 
to reduce the overall risk of the portfolio. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Custodial credit risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments 
is the risk that, in the vent of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of another party. The Union Plan does not have a policy for custodial credit risk.  

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Union Plan’s common collective trusts were uninsured investments, 
but the securities were held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the name of the Union Plan. 
The Union Plan’s investments during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, did not differ 
significantly from these at the respective year-ends in amounts or level of risk. 

Note 3. Grants and Operating Funding 
The Authority has entered into several contracts with the federal government under the Federal 
Transportation Act of 1964, as amended, whereby the Authority receives financial assistance for capital 
improvement projects, preventive maintenance and planning assistance. The Authority also receives 
federal financial assistance for its RideKC Freedom program. The Federal Transit Administration allocates 
the amount appropriated by Congress for public mass transportation to metropolitan areas using a formula 
that considers such factors as population, population/density and revenue vehicle miles. 

In addition, the Authority also received local funding under contracts with 10 local governmental units in 
the greater Kansas City area, but principally from the City of Kansas City, Missouri (the City). The amounts 
of local funding income from the City for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $63,372,247 
and $59,055,152, respectively. Local operating funding for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
was approximately 85% and 83% of the total operating grants and funding, respectively. 

Federal operating funding is comprised of the following: 

2019 2018

Formula grants used for Fixed Transit operations 9,728,356  $        10,110,939  $      
Formula grants used for RideKC Freedom operations 2,653,552            2,941,992            

12,381,908  $      13,052,931  $      

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, amounts due from the federal government were as follows: 

2019 2018

Fixed Transit expenditures 2,687,522  $        6,517,687  $        
RideKC Freedom expenditures 589,737               402,770               

3,277,259  $        6,920,457  $        

Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Page 50



Note 4. Capital Assets 
A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows: 

Beginning Ending

Balances Increases Decreases Balances

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land and rights-of-way 12,991,155  $          723,104  $  4,700  $  13,709,559  $          

Capital projects in progress 16,615,132              36,685,460              12,956,798              40,343,794              

Total capital assets not being depreciated 29,606,287              37,408,564              12,961,498              54,053,353              

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 65,421,117              - - 65,421,117              

Revenue equipment 108,089,588            8,736,685   3,953,164   112,873,109            

Other equipment and structures 62,417,123              654,555   327,595   62,744,083              

Office furniture and equipment 5,424,165   696,583   - 6,120,748 

Total capital assets being depreciated 241,351,993            10,087,823              4,280,759   247,159,057            

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements 39,904,762              1,892,113   - 41,796,875 

Revenue equipment 56,378,035              8,387,330   3,938,026   60,827,339 

Other equipment and structures 48,428,332              2,757,188   302,476   50,883,044 

Office furniture and equipment 4,915,929   372,893   - 5,288,822 

Total accumulated depreciation 149,627,058            13,409,524              4,240,502   158,796,080            

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 91,724,935              (3,321,701)               40,257   88,362,977              

Total capital assets, net 121,331,222  $        34,086,863  $          13,001,755  $          142,416,330  $        

A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows: 

Beginning Ending

Balances Increases Decreases Balances

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land and rights-of-way 12,209,641  $          850,725  $  69,211  $  12,991,155  $          

Capital projects in progress 10,925,355              37,234,933              31,545,156              16,615,132              

Total capital assets not being depreciated 23,134,996              38,085,658              31,614,367              29,606,287              

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 65,698,717              76,328   353,928   65,421,117              

Revenue equipment 92,402,521              25,494,228              9,807,161   108,089,588            

Other equipment and structures 58,432,572              4,089,279   104,728   62,417,123              

Office furniture and equipment 5,720,403   286,298   582,536   5,424,165   

Total capital assets being depreciated 222,254,213            29,946,133              10,848,353              241,351,993            

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements 38,335,276              1,922,237   352,751   39,904,762              

Revenue equipment 58,767,431              7,303,496   9,692,892   56,378,035              

Other equipment and structures 46,047,077              2,485,983   104,728   48,428,332              

Office furniture and equipment 5,220,914   277,548   582,533   4,915,929   

Total accumulated depreciation 148,370,698            11,989,264              10,732,904              149,627,058            

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 73,883,515              17,956,869              115,449   91,724,935              

Total capital assets, net 97,018,511  $          56,042,527  $          31,729,816  $          121,331,222  $        
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Note 5. Long-Term Liabilities 
A summary of long-term liability transactions for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows: 

Beginning Ending Amounts Due in

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Compensated absences 4,806,594  $            3,553,162  $         4,052,737  $         4,307,019  $            3,864,716  $            

Self insurance claims 4,650,442   1,685,219             2,547,277             3,788,384   1,244,000   

Total long-term liabilities 9,457,036  $            5,238,381  $         6,600,014  $         8,095,403  $            5,108,716  $            

A summary of long-term liability transactions for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows: 

Beginning Ending Amounts Due in

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Compensated absences 5,084,510  $            3,180,827  $         3,458,743  $         4,806,594  $            3,545,081  $            

Self insurance claims 5,582,559   1,753,961             2,686,078             4,650,442   2,961,870   

Total long-term liabilities 10,667,069  $          4,934,788  $         6,144,821  $         9,457,036  $            6,506,951  $            

Note 6. Restrictions and Designations of Assets 
The following is a summary of restrictions and designations of assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

2019 2018
Restricted assets—cash and investments used for the purchase

of capital assets and long-term operating purposes 33,240,650  $      43,446,962  $      
Designated assets—cash and investments used for the 

payment of self insurance claims 7,268,856            7,878,186            
Designated assets—cash and investments used for 

long-term operating liabilities 9,108,714            16,872,877          
Total restricted and designated assets 49,618,220  $      68,198,025  $      

Note 7. Pension Plans 
As a result of the adoption of GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, the beginning net position of 
the fiduciary fund was restated, to include the Union Employees Pension Plan. The effect on the financial 
statements are as follows: 

2018 Previously 
Presented Restatement 2018 Restated

Total assets 17,230,481  $   47,590,586  $   64,821,067  $   
Total liabilities 23,141              178,510            201,651            
Fiduciary net position 17,207,340       47,412,076       64,619,416       
Total additions 249,110            1,490,255         1,739,365         
Total deductions 1,408,975         3,936,227         5,345,202         
Change in fiduciary net position (1,159,865)        (2,445,972)        (3,605,837)        
Fiduciary net position, beginning of year 18,367,205       49,858,048       68,225,253       
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Each qualified Authority employee is included in one of two pension plans depending on their status as 
union or salaried personnel. Each plan is administered by a separate board of trustees and the assets are 
held in custody by certain banks. 

Plan information is as follows: 

Below is a summary of amounts reported by the Authority as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2019: 

Union Plan Salaried Plan Total

Net pension liability 16,563,722  $   2,503,123  $     19,066,845  $   
Deferred outflows of resources 2,595,254          1,917,898          4,513,152         
Deferred inflows of resources (4,014,096)        (2,104,329)        (6,118,425)        
Pension expense 3,307,769          1,395,737          4,703,506         

Below is a summary of amounts reported by the Authority as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2018: 

Union Plan Salaried Plan Total

Net pension liability (21,117,622)  $  (6,360,820)  $    (27,478,442)  $  
Deferred outflows of resources 6,156,278          3,802,981       9,959,259         
Deferred inflows of resources (2,376,768)        - (2,376,768) 
Pension expense 3,619,548          1,929,522       5,549,070 

Union Employees’ Funded Pension Plan: 

Plan description: The Union Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan covering full-time 
union employees who meet the eligibility requirements of being a permanent employee (members). The 
Plan is administered by the Union Employees’ Funded Pension Committee appointed by the Board of 
Commissioners of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority (the Authority) and Division 1287, 
Amalgamated Transit Union, AFL-CIO (the Union).  

Basis of accounting: The Union Plan’s financial information is prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. Member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The 
Authority’s contributions are recognized when due. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. All plan investments are reported at fair value. 
Administrative costs of the Union Plan are financed through investment earnings.  

The following represents the Union Plan’s membership as of January 1, 2019 and 2018: 

2019 2018

Active employees 543   493   
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 224   230   
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them 17   27   

784   750   
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Contributions: Each active participant is required to contribute 3.75% of their eligible earnings less 
allowances or other amounts provided in the applicable labor agreement for each week of credited 
service. 

The Authority is required to contribute, per the terms of the Union labor agreement, (1) 7.50% of eligible 
wages per active participant for each week of credited service and (2) an actuarially calculated 
recommended contribution amount covering the difference between the 7.50% and the calculation. The 
Authority is required to pay the higher of the 7.50% or the calculation.  

Investments: The Plan’s investment policy has the following asset allocation ranges permitted and the 
long-term expected geometric real rate of return for each major asset class: 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return

RITC Multi-Asset Core Fund 60% 6.75%
RITC Multi-Manager Bond Fund 40% 4.05%

Common collective trusts may be used for these asset classes. The policy places no limit on the amount 
the Plan may invest in any one issuer.  

Rate of return: For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 16.13% and -4.01%, 
respectively. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Net pension liability: The total pension liability was determined using an actuarial valuation date of 
January 1, 2019 using generally accepted actuarial principals and methods. The Authority is utilizing 
December 31, 2019 as its measurement date for reporting its net pension liability and related deferred 
inflows/outflows in their financial statements. Standard update procedures were used to roll forward the 
total pension liability to December 31, 2019. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
A schedule of the Authority’s changes in its net pension liability for the Union Plan for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension

Liability (a) Position (b) Liability (a)-(b)

Balances at December 31, 2017 66,969,584  $  49,858,048  $  17,111,536  $  

Changes for the year:

Service cost 2,109,637   - 2,109,637   

Interest on total pension liability 4,556,580   - 4,556,580   

Differences between expected and actual experience (1,290,395)   - (1,290,395) 

Contributions- employer - 2,550,097   (2,550,097) 

Contributions- employee - 1,223,924   (1,223,924) 

Net investment loss - (1,983,833) 1,983,833 

Benefit payments (3,815,708)   (3,815,708) - 

Administrative expense - (375,704)   375,704   

Other changes - (44,748)   44,748   

           Net changes 1,560,114   (2,445,972)   4,006,086   

Balances at December 31, 2018 68,529,698   47,412,076   21,117,622   

Changes for the year:

Service cost 2,330,904   - 2,330,904   

Interest on total pension liability 4,766,860   - 4,766,860   

Differences between expected and actual experience (670,910)   - (670,910)   

Changes in assumptions 47,506   - 47,506   

Contributions- employer - 2,663,317   (2,663,317)   

Contributions- employee - 1,233,911   (1,233,911)   

Net investment income - 7,525,490   (7,525,490)   

Benefit payments (5,525,218)   (5,525,218)   - 

Administrative expense - (394,458)   394,458   

Other changes - - - 

           Net changes 949,142   5,503,042   (4,553,900)   
Balances at December 31, 2019 69,478,840  $  52,915,118  $  16,563,722  $  

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 

total pension liability:

2019 76.16%
2018 69.18   

Actuarial assumptions: The total pension liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation was 
determined using mortality rates based on the PubG-2010 mortality table, projected generationally with 
75% of scale MP-2019. The actuary used a 7.00% long-term rate of return, and salary increases of 
4.25%.  

Discount rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan contributions from both employees and 
the employer will be made at the current contribution rates as determined annually by the Pension 
Committee in effect on the measurement date: (a) employee contribution rate of 3.75% of annual 
compensation; (b) employer contribution rate of the greater of 7.5% or the actuarially determined amounts 
per the actuarial valuation report; and (c) administrative expenses in the prior year projected forward with 
inflation as an estimate for administrative expenses in the current and future years. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Sensitivity of the Authority’s net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: The following 
presents the Authority’s net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.0% for 2019 and 2018, 
as well as what the Authority’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate. 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)

Net pension liability—2019 25,070,211  $      16,563,722  $      9,333,006  $        

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)

Net pension liability—2018 27,531,369  $      21,117,622  $      15,603,906  $      

Pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions: For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority recognized pension expense 
of $3,307,769 and $3,619,548, respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the Union Plan from the 
following sources: 

2019 2018

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
plan experience -$        (2,473,971)  $      -$  (2,376,768)$      

Changes of assumptions 2,595,254       - 3,115,900 -    
Net difference between projected and actual 

earnings on pension plan investments - (1,540,125) 3,040,378 -    
Total deferred amounts to be 

recognized in pension expense
in future periods 2,595,254  $       (4,014,096)  $      6,156,278  $       (2,376,768)  $      

Note: Changes of assumptions—In the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation, the mortality rates were 
updated to reflect the PubG-2010 tables, resulting in a $47,506 increase in the total pension liability. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Deferred inflows and outflows of resources related to the difference between expected and actual plan 
experience and assumption changes are being amortized over a closed period equal to the average of the 
expected service lives of all employees as of the beginning of the measurement period. The deferred 
outflows related to the difference between expected and actual investment earnings is being amortized 
over a closed 5-year period as of the beginning of the measurement period. Amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 

Years ending December 31:
2020 (494,578)  $          
2021 (437,306)              
2022 230,532             
2023 (590,172)              
2024 (116,867)              
Thereafter (10,451)                

(1,418,842)  $       

Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan: 

Plan description: The Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan covering full-time salaried 
employees who meet the eligibility requirement of one year of continuous employment as an Employee (or 
at least one year of continuous employment as an employee of the Authority with at least six consecutive 
months of such employment as an Employee). The Plan is administered by the Salaried Pension 
Committee appointed by the Board of Commissioners of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority 
(the Authority.) The Plan is a pension trust fund of the Authority. The Plan allows employee rollover 
contributions from the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Union Employees’ Funded Pension Plan 
(Union Plan). 

Basis of accounting: The Salaried Plan’s financial information is prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. Member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The 
Authority’s contributions are recognized when due. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. All plan investments are reported at fair value. 
Administrative costs of the Salaried Plan are financed through investment earnings.  

The following represents the Salaried Plan’s membership as of January 1, 2019 and 2018: 

2019 2018

Active employees 106   103   
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 53   55   
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them 13   13   

172   171   
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Contributions: Employer contributions are subject to annual appropriation by the Authority. The only 
employee contributions allowed are rollovers from the Union Plan sponsored by the Authority. The Plan 
receives an annual actuarial valuation for the purpose of determining the recommended contribution rates. 

Investments: The Plan’s investment policy has the following asset allocation ranges permitted, and the 
long-term expected geometric real rate of return for each major asset class. 

Long-Term
Expected Real

Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return

Large Cap Domestic Equity 30% 3.50%
Mid Cap Domestic Equity 11% 3.50%
Small Cap Domestic Equity 8% 4.00%
International Equity 16% 6.00%
Fixed income 32% 0.00%
US Treasuries 3% 0.00%

Mutual funds may be used for these asset classes. The policy places no limit on the amount the Plan may 
invest in any one issuer. Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and 
investments in mutual funds are not subject to concentration of credit risk. 

Rate of return: For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the annual money weighted rate of 
return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense was 21.53% and -6.05% 
respectively. The money weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Net pension liability: The total pension liability was determined using an actuarial valuation date of 
January 1, 2019 using generally accepted actuarial principals and methods. The Authority is utilizing 
December 31, 2019 as its measurement date for reporting its net pension liability and related deferred 
inflows/outflows in their financial statements. Standard update procedures were used to roll forward the 
total pension liability to December 31, 2019. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
A schedule of the Authority’s changes in its net pension liability for the Salaried Plan for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension
Liability (a) Position (b) Liability (a)-(b)

Balances at December 31, 2017 22,312,212 $          18,367,205 $          3,945,007  $           
Changes for the year:

Service cost 695,574       - 695,574 
Interest on total pension liability 1,515,929    - 1,515,929 
Differences between expected and actual experience 379,181       - 379,181 
Contributions- employer - 1,312,552 (1,312,552) 
Net investment loss - (1,110,631) 1,110,631 
Benefit payments (1,334,736)          (1,334,736) -        
Administrative expense - (74,239) 74,239         
Other changes - 47,189 (47,189)        
       Net changes 1,255,948    (1,159,865)          2,415,813    

Balances at December 31, 2018 23,568,160        17,207,340        6,360,820    
Changes for the year:

Service cost 613,725       - 613,725 
Interest on total pension liability 1,634,915    - 1,634,915 
Differences between expected and actual experience (836,714)      - (836,714) 
Changes in assumptions (361,892)      - (361,892) 
Contributions- employer - 1,264,022 (1,264,022) 
Net investment income - 3,673,717 (3,673,717) 
Benefit payments (1,651,901)          (1,651,901) -  
Administrative expense - (123,577) 123,577       
Other changes - 93,569 (93,569)        
       Net changes (601,867)      3,255,830    (3,857,697)          

Balances at December 31, 2019 22,966,293 $          20,463,170  $          2,503,123  $           

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 

total pension liability:
2019 89.10%
2018 73.01    

Actuarial assumptions: The total pension liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation was 
determined using mortality rates based on the PubG-2010 mortality table, projected generationally with 
75% of Scale MP-2019. The actuary used a 7.0% long-term rate of return, and salary increases of 4.00%. 

Discount rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.0%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made at rates 
equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. The projection also assumed employee 
contributions were none. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Sensitivity of the Authority’s net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: The following 
presents the Authority’s net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.0% for 2019 and 2018, 
as well as what the Authority’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate. 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)

 Net pension liability—2019 4,999,347  $        2,503,123  $        355,227  $           

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)

 Net pension liability—2018 8,419,153  $        6,360,820  $        4,575,148  $        

Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions: For the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority recognized pension expense of $1,395,737 and $1,929,522, 
respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to the Salaried Plan pension from the following sources: 

2018
Deferred Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of
Resources Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
plan experience 1,083,446  $     (717,186)  $       1,426,879  $  

Changes of assumptions 834,452          (310,194)           1,027,159    
Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on pension plan
investments - (1,076,949) 1,348,943    

Total deferred amounts 
to be recognized in pension
expense in future periods 1,917,898  $     (2,104,329)  $    3,802,981  $  

2019

Note: Changes of assumptions—In the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation, the morality rates were 
updated to reflect the PubG-2010 tables, resulting in a $361,892 decrease in the total pension liability. 
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Note 7. Pension Plans (Continued) 
Deferred outflows of resources related to the difference between expected and actual plan experience and 
assumption changes are being amortized over a closed period equal to the average of the expected 
service lives of all employees as of the beginning of the measurement period. The deferred outflows 
related to the difference between expected and actual investment earnings is being amortized over a 
closed 5-year period as of the beginning of the measurement period. Amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Years ending December 31:
2020 91,392  $             
2021 76,111 
2022 198,663             
2023 (280,265)              
2024 (101,102)              
Thereafter (171,230)              

(186,431)  $          

The union employees’ pension plan and salaried employees’ pension plan issue their own stand-alone 
financial reports. Copies may be requested from the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority, 1200 East 
18th Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64108. 

Note 8. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

Plan description: The Authority’s defined benefit OPEB plan, a single-employer health care plan, 
provides the same medical and pharmacy benefits to active employees as it does to eligible early retirees 
and their spouses. The plan is administered by the Authority and the Authority has the authority to 
establish or amend the plan provisions or contribution requirements. No assets are accumulated in a trust 
that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75. The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial 
report. 

Benefits provided: Employees who have attained age 55 and retire from active employment with 15 
consecutive years of service are eligible for retiree benefits. Eligible retirees and their dependents receive 
medical and pharmacy benefits through a fully-insured plan. These are the same plans that are available 
for active employees. The Authority also provides a life insurance benefit of $1,000 to each retiree. 

Contributions: The Authority establishes and amends contribution requirements. Currently, retirees less 
than age 65 pay 10% of active premium rates, while the Authority contributes 90%. Retirees equal to or 
greater than age 65 pay 100% of the premium rates. Spouses pay 100% of the active premium rates. The 
current funding policy of the Authority is to pay premiums as they occur on a pay-as-you-go basis. 

Employees covered by benefit terms: At January 1, 2019 and 2018, the following employees were 
covered by the benefit terms: 

2019 2018

Inactive employees currently receiving benefits 358   360   
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits - - 
Active employees 651   698   

1,009   1,058   
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Note 8. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Total OPEB liability: The Authority’s total OPEB liability of $20,728,508 was measured as of 
December 31, 2019, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2019. Standard 
update procedures were used to roll forward the total OPEB liability to December 31, 2019. 

Actuarial methods and assumptions: The total OPEB liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation 
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Salary increases 2.5% 
Discount rate 2.74%–measurement date 

4.10%–year preceding measurement date 
Health care cost trend rates 14.79% decreasing to 6.0% 
Retirees’ share of benefit-related costs 10% 
Mortality rates Pub-2010 General Employees Headcount-Weighted 

Mortality (SOA Scale MP-2019) 

The discount rate was based on the index provided by Bond Buyer 20-Bond General Obligation Index 
based on the 20 year AA municipal bond rate.  

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
Total OPEB 

Liability

Balance as of December, 2017 12,944,396  $   
Changes for the year:

Service cost 849,282            
Interest 433,714            
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (688,874)           
Difference between actual and expected experience (7,871)               
Contributions and payments made (672,842)           

Net changes (86,591)             
Balance as of December, 2018 12,857,805       

Changes for the year:
Service cost 1,534,359         
Interest 522,031            
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 2,843,634         
Difference between actual and expected experience 3,730,809         
Contributions and payments made (760,130)           

Net changes 7,870,703         
Balance as of December 31, 2019 20,728,508  $   

Note: Changes of assumptions—The discount rate was changed from 4.10% at the beginning of the year 
to 2.74% at the end of the year, the actuarial method changed from Projected Unit Credit to Entry-Age-
Normal as a Percentage of Salary, mortality assumption changed from SOA RP-2014 Total Dataset 
Mortality with Scale MP-2017 to Pub-2010 General Employees Headcount-Weighted Mortality (SOA Scale 
MP-2019), and the medical trend rate was updated to reflect actual experience. This resulted in a 
$2,843,634 increase in the total OPEB liability. 
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Note 8. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate: The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the Authority, as well as what the Authority’s approximate total OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.74%) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (3.74%) than the current discount rate: 

2019
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

1.74% 2.74% 3.74%

Total OPEB liability 22,324,133  $   20,728,508  $   19,191,735  $   

2018
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

3.10% 4.10% 5.10%

Total OPEB liability 13,823,242  $   12,857,805  $   11,983,626  $   

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates: The following 
presents the total OPEB liability of the Authority, as well as what the Authority’s total OPEB liability would 
be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (13.79% 
decreasing to 5%) or 1-percentage-point higher (15.79% decreasing to 7%) than the current healthcare 
cost trend rates: 

2019
Health Care 
Cost Trend

(13.79% Rates (14.79% (15.79% 
Decreasing Decreasing Decreasing
to 5.00%) to 6.00%) to 7.00%)

Total OPEB liability 18,191,731  $   20,728,508  $   23,667,879  $   

2018
Health Care 
Cost Trend

(6.87% Rates (7.87% (8.87% 
Decreasing Decreasing Decreasing
to 4.00%) to 5.00%) to 6.00%)

Total OPEB liability 11,518,608  $   12,857,805  $   14,441,389  $   
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Note 8. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

OPEB expense and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB: For the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority recognized OPEB expense of $2,829,719 and $1,188,985, 
respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Authority reported and deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

2018
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 3,238,618  $        (5,747)  $              (6,809)  $              
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 2,468,484            (502,976)              (595,925)              

5,707,102  $        (508,723)  $          (602,734)  $          

2019

Amounts reported as the deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB 
expense over the average remaining service lives of plan participants (actives and retirees) as follows: 

Years ending December 31:
2020 773,330  $        
2021 773,330            
2022 773,330            
2023 773,330            
2024 773,330            
Thereafter 1,331,729         

5,198,379  $     

Note 9. Risk Management 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Under the Authority’s risk 
management program, the Authority retains up to a maximum of $600,000 per occurrence ($1,500,000 
aggregate retention) for workers’ compensation and $2,000,000 per occurrence for vehicular liability. The 
Authority purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of the maximum under an umbrella policy 
and purchases commercial insurance for employee health insurance. Claims did not exceed coverage for 
the year ended December 31, 2019, and for each of the past three fiscal years.  

A provision for claims expense and related liability is established when information available prior to the 
issuance of the basic financial statements indicates it is probable a liability has been incurred and the 
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  

Changes in the estimated liability for claims during 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

2019 2018

Beginning balance 4,650,442  $        5,582,559  $        
Claims expense 1,685,219            1,753,961            
Claims payments and adjustments (2,547,277)           (2,686,078)           
Ending balance 3,788,384  $        4,650,442  $        
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Note 9. Risk Management (Continued) 
The Authority has established a Board-designated cash and investment account, which is available to pay 
such claims. The level of funding is determined based on actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to 
pay prior and current year claims and to establish a reserve for catastrophic losses. Designated assets 
available to pay claims were $8,310,391 and $7,878,186 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

In addition to these designated assets, the Authority maintains a letter of credit, which has been renewed 
through 2020, as collateral for the payment of self-insurance claims. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
the amount available to the Authority on this letter of credit was $1,506,000 and $1,372,000, respectively. 
There were no draws on the letter of credit in fiscal years 2019 and 2018. 

The excess of designated assets available for payment of these claims over the recorded liability was 
$4,522,007 and $3,227,744 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Note 10. Deferred Compensation Plan 
The Authority offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, available to all Authority employees, permits them to defer a portion 
of their salary until future years. The deferred compensation plan is not available to employees until 
termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency. The plan was amended to comply with IRC 
Section 457(g) which allowed the plan to hold its assets in trust. Under these requirements, the assets of 
the plan are not subject to the creditors of the Authority and the liability and corresponding investments are 
not reflected in the financial statements. 

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies 

Pending/threatened litigation: The Authority is involved in lawsuits, claims and grievances arising in the 
normal course of business, including claims for personal injury and personnel practices, property damage 
and disputes over eminent domain proceedings. In the opinion of the General Counsel to the Authority, 
payment of claims by the Authority, for amounts not covered by insurance, in the aggregate, are not 
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial position. 

Grants: The Kansas City Area Transportation Authority obtains financial assistance from various federal 
and state agencies in the forms of grants and entitlements. These programs are subject to audit by agents 
of the granting authority. Management does not believe that liabilities for reimbursements, if any, will have 
a materially adverse effect upon the financial condition of the Authority. 

Purchase commitments as of December 31, 2019: 

The Authority has committed to purchase the following:  

1) $492,199 in construction projects;
2) $13,986,092 for property/casualty insurance and employee health insurance/benefits;
3) $166,924 legal services;
4) $1,695,729 miscellaneous materials;
5) $7,631,394 in services;
6) $3,973,220 in Software subscriptions and annual maintenance agreements; and
7) $3,517,388 for equipment,

KCATA's legal services and A&E Professional Services are procured on an "as needed" basis with an 
annual "not to exceed" contract amount. 
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Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

Rock Island Railroad Corridor Project: The Authority and Jackson County, Missouri have forged a 
partnership for the acquisition and public use of the 17.7 mile railroad corridor running from near the 
Truman Sports Complex through Raytown and into Lee’s Summit into southern Jackson County (the 
County).  

Jackson County will be constructing a shared use pathway for walking/biking for transportation purposes. 
The Authority will study the appropriate future transit option for the corridor as well as TOD (Transit 
Oriented Development) opportunities for economic development at key location along the corridor.  

The Rock Island Corridor was purchased from Union Pacific for $52 million by the County in partnership 
with the Authority with annual debt service for the cost of acquisition funded on 50/50 basis. The funding 
agreement requires the Authority to reimburse the County for 50% of the annual debt service payment of 
approximately $1.4 million each year for 30 years through 2046. 

Key dates for the project: 

• September 2015 the Authority and the County enter into a Cooperative Agreement for funding the
purchase of Rock Island.

• April 2016 Jackson Legislature approves issuance of Bonds to purchase the Corridor.
• May 2016 Jackson County closes the purchase transaction.
• January 2017 the County and the Authority enter a Cooperative Agreement for the Maintenance and

Operations of the RIRR Corridor.
• June 2019 Jackson County holds Trail ribbon cutting ceremony to open southern leg of the Trail.

Under Section 8 of the Cooperative Agreement approved by the Authority Board on September 30, 2015: 

The Authority retains the exclusive right to purchase the rail corridor ROW excluding the Trail for purposes 
of constructing and operating a Multi-Modal Corridor Project. Should County bonds issued for the 
purchase be outstanding at the time purchase occurs, the Authority will assume responsibility of that 
outstanding debt. 

At this time, there are no plans to exercise this option in the near future. 

These commitments will be paid with federal, state or local grants and funding, or possible private funding. 

Prospect MAX Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project: The Authority, in partnership with the City of Kansas 
City, Missouri, is implementing a plan for enhanced transit service along Kansas City’s Prospect Avenue 
corridor. The ten-mile Prospect Avenue Corridor is a key urban commercial arterial and residential street 
that parallels US 71. Prospect MAX will operate along 11th and 12th Streets into the downtown area and 
connect with the downtown Streetcar line. The two new mobility hubs will include options like paratransit 
connections, bikeshare, scooters and connections to other local routes. 

Benefits of MAX service 
• Improved faster service with fewer stops
• Improved streets and sidewalks
• 10-minute service intervals
• Enhanced passenger stations with attractive, well-lit shelters
• New technologies
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Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 
Key Dates 
• August 2015 FTA Approval for Entry into Project Development
• April 2017 KCATA / City of Kansas City, Missouri cooperative agreement signed
• April 2017 Environmental Clearance
• April 2018 FTA Single Year Grant Agreement Executed
• November 2019 Complete Construction (All construction except 12th and Charlotte Transit Center

scheduled to open in June 2020)
• December 2019 Begin Prospect MAX BRT Service

Project costs for the Prospect MAX is estimated to be $55.8 million, with $38 million in Federal funds and 
$17.8 million in local matching funds ($12.5 million from KCMO and $5.3 million from KCATA.) Capital 
improvements include 48 new MAX stations, two transit centers, 12 BRT compressed natural gas (CNG) 
buses and pedestrian safety and access improvements such as new sidewalk and pedestrian traffic signal 
upgrades. 

Note 12. RideKC Development Corporation Blended Component Unit 
Presented below is the RideKC Development Corporation summarized financial statements as of and for 
the year ending December 31, 2019: 

Assets, current assets 1,470,050$       

Noncurrent assets, land 461,050            
Total assets 1,931,100         

Current liabilities, accounts payable 8,456 

Noncurrent liabilities, due to the Authority - Fixed Transit 2,038,910         
Total liabilities 2,047,366         

Net position (deficit) (116,266)$         

Condensed Statement of Net Position as of December 31, 2019

Operating revenue -$  
Operating expense 117,852            

Operating loss (117,852)           

Nonoperating revenues 1,586 

Change in net position (116,266)           
Net position, beginning of the year - 
Net position (deficit), end of the year (116,266)$         

Condensed Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
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Note 13. Pending Pronouncements 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued the following Statements not yet 
required to be implemented by the Authority: 

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases 2017, issued June 2017, will be effective for the Authority beginning with 
its fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. Statement No. 87 is designed to better meet the information 
needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by 
governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring 
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating 
leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions 
of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that 
leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to 
recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize 
a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of 
information about governments’ leasing activities. 

GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, issued January 2020, will be effective for the Authority beginning 
with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2021. The objectives of this Statement are to enhance 
comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative 
literature by addressing practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of 
certain GASB Statements. 

The Authority has not yet determined the effect these Statements will have on the Authority’s financial 
statements.  

Note 14. Subsequent Events 
On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19) a 
“Public Health Emergency of International Concern” and on March 10, 2020, declared COVID-19 a 
pandemic. The impact of COVID-19 could negatively affect the Authority’s operations, suppliers or other 
vendors, as well as intergovernmental entities and citizens it collects fees from. The operations for the 
Authority’s services could be negatively impacted by the regional and global outbreak of COVID-19, 
including the potential for stop-work orders on existing construction projects for an unknown period of 
time. Any quarantines, labor shortages or other disruptions to the Authority’s operations, or that of its 
suppliers and vendors, may adversely affect the Authority’s revenues, ability to provide its services and 
operating results. In addition, a significant outbreak of an epidemic, pandemic or contagious diseases in 
the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect the economies 
and financial markets of many countries, including the geographical area in which the Authority operates, 
resulting in an economic downturn that could affect demand for services. As of the date of this report, 
management believes COVID-19 has not had any such impact on the Authority's financial statements or 
operations. The extent to which COVID-19 may affect the Authority’s results will depend on future 
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information, which may 
emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and actions taken to contain COVID-19 or its impact, among 
others.  
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Salaried Employees Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability 
For the Last Six Fiscal Years

2019 2018
Total Pension Liability
Service cost 613,725 $   695,574  $          
Interest on total pension liability 1,634,915   1,515,929           
Difference between expected and actual experience (836,714)   379,181              
Changes in assumptions (361,892)   - 
Benefit payments including refunds of member contributions (1,651,901)   (1,334,736)          

Net change in total pension liability (601,867)   1,255,948           

Total pension liability, beginning of year 23,568,160   22,312,212         
Total pension liability, end of year 22,966,293 $   23,568,160  $     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions, employer 1,264,022 $   1,312,552  $       
Contributions, employee - - 
Net investment income (loss) 3,673,717   (1,110,631)          
Benefit payments including refunds of member contributions (1,651,901)   (1,334,736)          
Administrative expenses (123,577)   (74,239)               
Other (transfers) 93,569   47,189                

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 3,255,830   (1,159,865)          

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 17,207,340   18,367,205         

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year 20,463,170 $     17,207,340  $     

Net Pension Liability 2,503,123 $       6,360,820  $       

Information prior to 2014 is unavailable. 

Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Page 69



2017 2016 2015 2014

554,860  $          471,547  $          398,735  $          393,564  $          
1,466,353           1,375,401           1,349,207           1,267,046           

877,084              890,536              65,236                - 
903,754              - 636,032 - 

(2,045,437)          (1,022,654)          (995,727) (1,547,409)          
1,756,614           1,714,830           1,453,483           113,201              

20,555,598         18,840,768         17,387,285         17,274,084         
22,312,212  $     20,555,598  $     18,840,768  $     17,387,285  $     

1,256,289  $       754,000  $          750,000  $          860,445  $          
- - - - 

2,558,624           1,060,105           94,531                925,775              
(2,045,437)          (1,022,654)          (995,727)             (1,547,409)          

(70,560)               (28,313)               (39,208)               (31,415)               
181,749              113,455              41,178                27,314                

1,880,665           876,593              (149,226)             234,710              

16,486,540         15,609,947         15,759,173         15,524,463         

18,367,205  $     16,486,540  $     15,609,947  $     15,759,173  $     

3,945,007  $       4,069,058  $       3,230,821  $       1,628,112  $       
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Union Employees Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability 
For the Last Six Fiscal Years

2019 2018
Total Pension Liability
Service cost 2,330,904  $       2,109,637  $       
Interest on total pension liability 4,766,860           4,556,580           
Difference between expected and actual experience (670,910)             (1,290,395)          
Changes in assumptions 47,506                - 
Benefit payments including refunds of member contributions (5,525,218)          (3,815,708)          

Net change in total pension liability 949,142              1,560,114           

Total pension liability, beginning of year 68,529,698         66,969,584         
Total pension liability, end of year 69,478,840  $     68,529,698  $     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions, employer 2,663,317  $       2,550,097  $       
Contributions, employee 1,233,911           1,223,924           
Net investment income (loss) 7,525,490           (1,983,833)          
Benefit payments including refunds of member contributions (5,525,218)          (3,815,708)          
Administrative expenses (394,458)             (375,704)             
Other (transfers) - (44,748) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 5,503,042           (2,445,972)          

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 47,412,076         49,858,048         

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year 52,915,118  $     47,412,076  $     

Net Pension Liability 16,563,722  $     21,117,622  $     

Information prior to 2014 is unavailable. 
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2017 2016 2015 2014

1,996,043  $       1,894,701  $       1,823,167  $       1,657,267  $       
4,522,438           4,524,248           4,483,228           4,199,534           
(193,109)             (1,896,192)          (77,383)               - 

2,868,379           - 1,676,801 - 
(4,957,070)          (4,151,286)          (3,796,329) (3,882,725)          
4,236,681           371,471              4,109,484           1,974,076           

62,732,903         62,361,432         58,251,948         56,277,872         
66,969,584  $     62,732,903  $     62,361,432  $     58,251,948  $     

2,322,232  $       2,530,180  $       2,436,703  $       2,490,987  $       
1,172,264           1,138,310           1,103,227           1,083,747           
6,655,989           3,453,539           (677,912)             2,463,634           

(4,957,070)          (4,151,286)          (3,796,329)          (3,882,574)          
(363,175)             (333,039)             (77,356)               (62,062)               
(181,749)             (113,455)             (61,563)               (27,314)               

4,648,491           2,524,249           (1,073,230)          2,066,418           

45,209,557         42,685,308         43,758,538         41,692,120         

49,858,048  $     45,209,557  $     42,685,308  $     43,758,538  $     

17,111,536  $     17,523,346  $     19,676,124  $     14,493,410  $     
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Salaried Employees Pension Plan
Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
For the Last Six Fiscal Years

2019 2018

Total pension liability, end of year 22,966,293 $     23,568,160  $     

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year  20,463,170       17,207,340 

Net pension liability 2,503,123 $       6,360,820  $       

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 89.10% 73.01%

Covered payroll 8,704,522 $       8,728,639  $       

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 28.76% 72.87%

Information prior to 2014 is unavailable. 
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2017 2016 2015 2014

22,312,212  $     20,555,598  $     18,840,768  $     17,387,285  $     

 18,367,205       16,486,540  15,609,947  15,759,173 

3,945,007  $       4,069,058  $       3,230,821  $       1,628,112  $       

82.32% 80.20% 82.85% 90.64%

7,902,132  $       6,795,068  $       6,076,318  $       5,761,978  $       

49.92% 59.88% 53.17% 28.26%
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Union Employees Pension Plan
Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
For the Last Six Fiscal Years

2019 2018

Total pension liability, end of year 69,478,840  $     68,529,698  $     

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year  52,915,118       47,412,076 

Net pension liability 16,563,722  $     21,117,622  $     

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 76.16% 69.18%

Covered payroll 32,400,450  $     32,198,194  $     

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 51.12% 65.59%

Information prior to 2014 is unavailable. 
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2017 2016 2015 2014

66,969,584  $     62,732,903  $     62,361,432  $     58,251,948  $     

 49,858,048       45,209,557  42,685,308  43,758,538 

17,111,536  $     17,523,346  $     19,676,124  $     14,493,410  $     

74.45% 72.07% 68.45% 75.12%

30,963,093  $     30,780,779  $     28,631,221  $     27,122,786  $     

55.26% 56.93% 68.72% 53.44%
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Pension Plans
Schedule of Employer Contributions
For the Last Ten Fiscal Years

Salaried Employees Pension Plan

Annual Contribution Actual Contribution
Year Ended Recommended Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of
December 31, Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2010 854,001  $         860,000  $        (5,999)  $       6,145,730  $       13.99%
2011  806,145  900,000 (93,855)    6,235,887 14.43                        
2012  881,559  900,000 (18,441)    6,344,517 14.19                        
2013  860,445  945,000 (84,555)    6,005,404 15.74                        
2014  748,911  860,445 (111,534)    5,761,978 14.93                        
2015  793,573  750,000  43,573  6,076,318 12.34                        
2016  931,915  754,000  177,915  6,795,068 11.10                        
2017  1,226,529  1,256,289 (29,760)    7,902,132 15.90                        
2018  1,312,552  1,312,552 - 8,728,639 15.04                        
2019  1,264,022  1,264,022 - 8,704,522 14.52                        

Union Employees Pension Plan

Annual Contribution Actual Contribution
Year Ended Recommended Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of
December 31, Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2010 2,370,772  $      2,062,572  $     308,200  $     27,712,152  $     7.44%
2011  2,441,900 2,051,196          390,704 28,258,875         7.26            
2012  2,348,733 2,090,240          258,493  27,573,796 7.58            
2013  2,161,149  2,050,024  111,125  26,890,312 7.62            
2014  2,210,419  2,490,987 (280,568)    27,122,786 9.18            
2015  2,436,703  2,436,703 - 28,631,221 8.51            
2016  2,530,180  2,530,180 - 30,780,779 8.22            
2017  2,322,232  2,322,232 - 30,963,093 7.50            
2018  2,550,097  2,550,097 - 32,198,194 7.92            
2019  2,663,317  2,663,317 - 32,400,450 8.22            

The information presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as part of the January 1, 
2019 actuarial valuation. Additional information follows: 

Salaried Employees Union Employees

Pension Plan Pension Plan

1. Cost method Entry age normal Entry age normal

2. Long-term rate of return 7.0% 7.0%

3. Salary increases 4.0% 4.25%

4. Amortization method Level dollar, Closed Level amount, Open

5. Remaining amortization period 15 years 30 years
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Pension Plans
Schedule of Investment Returns
For the Last Six Fiscal Years

Salaried Employees Pension Plan
2019 2018 2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return,
net of investment expense 21.53% (6.05)% 15.68%

2016 2015 2014
Annual money-weighted rate of return,

net of investment expense 6.91% 1.00% 6.16%

Union Employees Pension Plan
2019 2018 2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return,
net of investment expense 16.13% (4.01)% 15.17%

2016 2015 2014
Annual money-weighted rate of return,

net of investment expense 8.18% (1.60)% 5.95%

Information prior to 2014 is unavailable.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the Authority's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

2019 2018
Total OPEB liability
Service cost 1,534,359 $   849,282  $             
Interest  522,031  433,714 
Changes of benefit terms - - 
Differences between expected and

actual experience  3,730,809 (7,871)   
Changes of assumptions or other

inputs  2,843,634 (688,874)                
Benefit payments (760,130)   (672,842)                

Net change in total
OPEB liability  7,870,703 (86,591)   

Total OPEB liability—beginning  12,857,805  12,944,396 
Total OPEB liability—ending 20,728,508 $        12,857,805  $        

Covered payroll  36,918,225  39,471,554 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 56.15% 32.57%

Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the

discount rate each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

2017 3.44%
2018 4.10%
2019 2.74%

Assumption changes in 2019 - in addition to the above discount rate change, the actuarial method changed from the 
Projected Unit Credit  to Entry-Age-Normal as a Percentage of Salary , the mortality assumption changed to the

Pub-2010 General Employees Headcount-Weighted Mortality (SOA Scale MP-2019).

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.
However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information
for those years for which information is available. 
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Combining Schedule of Net Position
December 31, 2019

RideKC RideKC

Fixed Transit Freedom Development Total
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and investments 6,163,872  $      -$  1,462,718  $      7,626,590$      
Intercompany 2,811,000          (772,090)           (2,038,910)        - 
Accounts receivable 450,162             8,922   - 459,084
Due from other governments:

Local governments 853,119             99,682               - 952,801
State governments 288,880             123,690             - 412,570
Federal government 2,687,522          589,737             - 3,277,259

Materials and supplies 1,540,125          - - 1,540,125
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,344,225          - 7,332 1,351,557
Designated cash and investments 1,244,000          - - 1,244,000

Total current assets 17,382,905        49,941               (568,860)            16,863,986 

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and investments 33,240,650        - -  33,240,650 
Designated cash and investments 15,133,570        - -  15,133,570 
Capital assets:

Land and other nondepreciable assets 53,592,303        - 461,050  54,053,353 
Other depreciable capital assets, net of 

depreciation 88,362,977        - -  88,362,977 
Total noncurrent assets  190,329,500 - 461,050  190,790,550 

Total assets 207,712,405      49,941               (107,810)           207,654,536      

Deferred outflows of resources:
OPEB related amounts 5,707,102          - -  5,707,102 
Pension related amounts 4,513,152          - -  4,513,152 

Total deferred outflows of resources 10,220,254  $    -$  -$  10,220,254$    

See note to other supplementary information.
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RideKC RideKC

Fixed Transit Freedom Development Total
Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 6,621,615  $      25,000  $           8,456  $             6,655,071  $      
Accrued liabilities:

Payroll and benefits 2,193,668          - -  2,193,668 
Compensated absences 3,842,650          22,066               - 3,864,716
Other 7,202   - -  7,202 

Liabilities payable from designated assets:
Public liability and property damage 536,000             - -  536,000 
Workers' compensation claims 708,000             - -  708,000 

Unearned revenue 1,163,187          - -  1,163,187 
Due to other governments 1,106,844          - -  1,106,844 

Total current liabilities  16,179,166  47,066  8,456  16,234,688 

Noncurrent liabilities:
Liabilities payable from designated assets:

Public liability and property damage 793,302             - -  793,302 
Workers' compensation claims 1,751,082          - -  1,751,082 

Total OPEB liability 20,728,508        - -  20,728,508 
Net pension liability 19,066,845        - -  19,066,845 
Compensated absences 439,778             2,525   - 442,303

Total noncurrent liabilities  42,779,515  2,525 - 42,782,040

Total liabilities  58,958,681  49,591  8,456  59,016,728 

Deferred inflows of resources:
OPEB related amounts 508,723             - -  508,723 
Pension related amounts 6,118,425          - -  6,118,425 

Total deferred inflows of resources 6,627,148          - - 6,627,148          

Net position
Investment in capital assets  141,955,280 - 461,050  142,416,330 
Restricted, capital and operating purposes  33,240,650 - -  33,240,650 
Unrestricted (deficit) (22,849,100)       350 (577,316)           (23,426,066)      

Total net position 152,346,830  $  350  $  (116,266)  $       152,230,914  $  
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31, 2019

RideKC RideKC

Fixed Transit Freedom Development Total
Operating revenues:

Passenger 7,756,198  $      1,273,700  $      -$  9,029,898$      
Charter and stadium express 86,295               - -  86,295 
Advertising 414,072             - -  414,072 

Total operating revenues  8,256,565  1,273,700 - 9,530,265

Operating expenses:
Transportation 39,763,450        11,708,663        - 51,472,113
Maintenance 25,661,457        - - 25,661,457
Public liability and property damage claims 980,269             - - 980,269
General and administrative 21,085,629        1,321,447          117,852             22,524,928
Depreciation and amortization expense 13,409,524        - - 13,409,524

Total operating expenses  100,900,329  13,030,110  117,852  114,048,291 

Operating loss (92,643,764)      (11,756,410)      (117,852)           (104,518,026)    

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Operating funding:

Local governments 63,476,427        9,019,167          - 72,495,594
State government 329,504             82,236               - 411,740
Federal government 9,728,356          2,653,552          - 12,381,908

Federal grant revenue received for subrecipients 2,170,380          - - 2,170,380
Federal funds passed through to subrecipients (2,170,380)        - - (2,170,380) 
Federal grant revenue, received on behalf of others 3,311,243          - -  3,311,243 
Federal funds spent on behalf of others (3,311,243)        - - (3,311,243)        
Federal grant revenue received for project 4,202,524          - -  4,202,524 
Federal funds passed through for project (4,202,524)        - - (4,202,524)        
Investment income 3,146,093          - 1,586  3,147,679 
Debt service reimbursement to Jackson County (1,401,722)        - - (1,401,722)        
Gain on disposition of capital assets 164,510             - -  164,510 
Rental and other nonoperating income 1,686,973          1,455   - 1,688,428

Total nonoperating revenues  77,130,141  11,756,410  1,586  88,888,137 

Decrease in net position before
capital funding (15,513,623)      - (116,266) (15,629,889)      

Capital related grants and funding 26,630,317        - -  26,630,317 

Change in net position 11,116,694        - (116,266) 11,000,428        

Net position, beginning of year  141,230,136  350 - 141,230,486

Net position, end of year 152,346,830  $  350  $  (116,266)  $       152,230,914  $  

See note to other supplementary information.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position—Pension Trust Funds
December 31, 2019

Salaried Union Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 100,443  $          -$  100,443  $          

Investments:
Common stock  8,140,362 - 8,140,362
Equity funds  7,208,271 - 7,208,271
U.S. agencies  123,934 - 123,934
Debt funds  384,461 - 384,461
Corporate bonds  2,161,191 - 2,161,191
U.S. treasury  1,624,665 - 1,624,665
Municipal bonds  50,244 - 50,244
Money market  713,256 - 713,256
Common collective trusts - 52,870,098 52,870,098

Total investments  20,406,384  52,870,098  73,276,482 

Other receivables - 228,720  228,720 

Total assets  20,506,827  53,098,818  73,605,645 

Liabilities

Accrued administrative expenses  43,657  183,700  227,357 

Fiduciary net position restricted for 
pension benefits held in trust 20,463,170  $     52,915,118  $     73,378,288  $     

See note to other supplementary information.
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Kansas City Area Transportation Authority

Combining Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position—Pension Trust Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Salaried Union Total
Additions:

Employer contributions 1,264,022  $       2,663,317  $       3,927,339  $       
Participant contributions - 1,233,911  1,233,911 

 1,264,022  3,897,228  5,161,250 

Transfer from the Kansas City Area Transportation
Authority Union Employees' Funded Pension Plan 93,569   - 93,569 

Investment income:
Net appreciation of fair value of investments, 

net of investment expense  3,153,127  7,525,490  10,678,617 
Interest and dividends  520,590 - 520,590

Total investment earnings  3,673,717  7,525,490  11,199,207 
Less investment expense  33,690  117,047  150,737 

Net investment income  3,640,027  7,408,443  11,048,470 

Total additions  4,997,618  11,305,671  16,303,289 

Deductions:
Benefits paid to participants  1,651,901  5,525,218  7,177,119 
Administrative expenses  89,887  277,411  367,298 

Total deductions  1,741,788  5,802,629  7,544,417 

Net increase  3,255,830  5,503,042  8,758,872 

Net position held in trust for pension benefits:
Beginning of year  17,207,340  47,412,076  64,619,416 

End of year 20,463,170  $     52,915,118  $     73,378,288  $     

See note to other supplementary information. 
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In addition to the basic financial statements, the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority presents a 
combining schedule of net position and a combining schedule of revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position for its two divisions and blended component unit. A brief explanation of these divisions and the 
component unit is as follows: 

Fixed Transit: This is the main operating division of the Authority which accounts for mass transit 
operations. 

RideKC Freedom: This operating division accounts for the activities of the Authority’s para-transit 
program, which is primarily devoted to the transport of elderly and disabled Americans. 

RideKC Development Corporation: A not-for-profit corporation formed to promote and facilitate transit-
oriented development in the Kansas City metropolitan area.  
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KCATA

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for 
Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

Statistical Section 
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KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

This part of the Kansas City Area Transportation Authority’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

presents detailed statistics as a basis for understanding what the information in the financial 

statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information say about the Authority’s 

overall financial health. 

Financial Trends……………………………………………………………………….………………… Pg. 91-95
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the 
Authority’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

Economic and Demographic Information …....................................................................... Pg. 96-98
These schedules offer economic and demographic indicators to help the reader 
understand the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take 
place. 

Operating Information………………………………………………………………………………..… Pg. 99-101
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the Authority’s financial report relates to the 
services the Authority provided and the activities it performs. 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules are derived from the 
KCATA’s financial statements. 
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Net Investment in Capital Assets 90,644,774$   93,372,769$   91,402,306$   80,687,875$   76,766,930$   92,595,323$   86,313,417$   97,018,511$   121,331,222$ 142,416,330$ 
Restricted 60,161,138     54,508,851 53,124,934     52,234,055     62,034,311     51,827,060     51,829,170     49,797,963     43,446,962     33,240,650     
Unrestricted 16,180,234     15,439,383     16,051,178     21,464,983     17,134,754     (5,799,437)      (8,261,842)      (14,188,847)    (23,547,698)    (23,426,066)    

Total Net Position 166,986,146$ 163,321,003$ 160,578,418$ 154,386,913$ 155,935,995$ 138,622,946$ 129,880,745$ 132,627,627$ 141,230,486$ 152,230,914$ 

Amounts are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, on an accrual basis
Source:  The Authority's Independently audited annual financial statements

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORATION AUTHORITY
Net Postion by Components

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015* 2016 2017 2018 2019

OPERATING REVENUE:
       Passenger Revenue : 11,505,545$        12,030,920$       12,255,314$       12,307,123         12,062,643$       11,146,180$        10,778,789$        9,402,016$         9,437,354$          9,029,898$          
       Charter and Special Events 9,520 16,520 20,738 15,497 12,960 21,812 12,440 500 2,438 86,295 
       Advertising 447,341 334,306 566,354              605,397              413,377              536,366 579,704 397,833              358,490 414,072 
Total operating revenues 11,962,406$        12,381,746$       12,842,406$       12,928,017$       12,488,980$       11,704,358$        11,370,933$        9,800,349$         9,798,282$          9,530,265$          

OPERATING EXPENSES:
    Transportation 45,858,040$        48,130,032$       49,325,609$       48,398,833$       48,499,499$       50,350,040$        48,735,235$        48,461,292$       47,429,399$        51,472,113$        
    Maintenance 18,568,886          18,622,930 18,316,430         18,745,073         19,148,560         21,149,058          21,799,363          20,269,269         26,447,255          25,661,457          
    Public liability and property damage claims 1,200,331            2,647,142 449,709              2,068,288           1,456,197           1,846,193            2,977,280            727,769              737,827 980,269 
    General and administrative 11,229,211          11,019,957 11,550,759         12,002,144         12,529,360         14,505,445          20,455,191          20,265,149         20,222,826          22,524,928          

  Total 76,856,468$        80,420,061$       79,642,507$       81,214,338$       81,633,616$       87,850,736$        93,967,069$        89,723,479$       94,837,307$        100,638,767$      
     Depreciation 10,582,901          12,716,046 12,899,616         13,066,841         13,951,471         12,240,204          11,712,844          11,300,458         11,989,264          13,409,524          
Total operating expenses 87,439,369$        93,136,107$       92,542,123$       94,281,179$       95,585,087$       100,090,940$      105,679,913$      101,023,937$     106,826,571$      114,048,291$      

OPERATING LOSS (75,476,963)$       (80,754,361)$      (79,699,717)$      (81,353,162)$     (83,096,107)$      (88,386,582)$       (94,308,980)$       (91,223,588)$      (97,028,289)$       (104,518,026)$     

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
     Operating grants and funding:
     Local governments 48,039,407$        53,620,502$       51,882,627$       53,596,322$       54,180,772$       62,413,732$        66,092,890$        67,381,624$       67,593,420$        72,495,594$        
     State governments 891,667 206,735 197,784              231,542              309,400              434,161 290,938 662,541              410,284 411,740 
     Federal government 15,489,286          10,352,435 11,703,529         10,567,633         10,703,845         11,543,962          12,116,238          10,319,469         13,052,931          12,381,908          

20,461,391          14,810,414 11,535,045         12,885,166         14,921,695         10,917,253          5,240,796 14,379,078 31,790,151          26,630,317          
- 1,214,416 9,133,905           17,831,139         1,875,018           469,477 1,048,062            1,471,999           2,207,891            2,170,380            
- (1,214,416) (9,133,905)          (17,831,139)       (1,875,018)          (469,477)              (1,048,062)           (1,471,999)          (2,207,891)           (2,170,380)           
- - - - - - - 1,778,585           7,930,604            7,513,767            
- - - - - - - (1,778,585)          (7,930,604)           (7,513,767)           

1,425,693            1,372,976 1,172,650           (75,605)              1,045,250           745,467 723,393 700,457              1,143,778            3,147,679            
- - - - - - (535,146)              (1,404,472)          (1,401,972)           (1,401,722)           

(235,911)              348,020 32,279 (96,690)              65,033 22,000 13,147 153,827              (175,605)              164,510 
455,581 489,700 469,218              454,380              940,242              1,050,059            1,768,523            1,885,946           1,897,960            1,688,428            

Capital related grants and funding
Federal grant revenue received for subrecipients (1) 
Federal funds passed through to subrecipients (1) 
Federal grant revenue received on behalf of others (2) 
Federal funds passed through on behalf of others (2) 
Investment Income
Debt service reimbursement to Jackson County (3)
Gain (loss) on dispositon of capital assets 
Rental and other nonoperating income
Other nonoperating expense (4) - - (36,000) (144,000)            (144,000)             (144,000)              (144,000)              (108,000)             - - 
     Total nonoperating revenues 86,527,114$        81,200,782$       76,957,132$       77,418,748$       82,022,237$       86,982,634$        85,566,779$        93,970,470$       114,310,947$      115,518,454$      

  Change in net position 11,050,151$        446,421$            (2,742,585)$        (3,934,414)$       (1,073,870)$        (1,403,948)$         (8,742,201)$         2,746,882$         17,282,658$        11,000,428$        

* Net position restated for 2015
(1) No federal grant pass-through activity for subrecipients in 2010
(2) No federal grant pass-through activity on behalf of others occurred until 2017
(3) Debt obligation with Jackson County was initiated in 2016
(4) Other non-operating expense was a joint project with Kansas City, Missouri beginning in 2012 and ending in 2017

Amounts are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, on an accrual basis 

Source:  The Authority's Independently audited annual financial statements

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORATION AUTHORITY
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

40,717,871$    49,579,711$    48,703,236$    49,973,016$    49,495,050$    52,918,918$    58,331,117$    57,934,889$     59,748,536$    59,654,733$    
7,321,536        4,040,791        3,179,391        3,623,306        4,685,722        9,494,814        7,761,773        9,446,735         7,844,884        12,840,861      

11,505,545      12,030,920      12,255,314      12,307,123      12,062,643      11,146,180      10,778,789      9,402,016         9,437,354        9,029,898        
9,520 16,520             20,738             15,497             12,960             21,812             12,440             500 2,438 86,295             

447,341           334,306 566,354           605,397           413,377           536,366           579,704           397,833            358,490           414,072           
891,667           206,735 197,784           231,542           309,400           434,161           290,938           662,541            410,284           411,740           

15,489,286      10,352,435 11,703,529      10,567,633      10,703,845      11,543,962      12,116,238      10,319,469       13,052,931      12,381,908      
20,461,391      14,810,414 11,535,045      12,885,166      14,921,695      10,917,253      5,240,796 14,379,078 31,790,151      26,630,317      

- 1,214,416 9,133,905        17,831,139      1,875,018        469,477           1,048,062        3,250,584         10,138,495      9,684,147        
1,425,693        1,372,976 1,172,650        - 1,045,250 745,467           723,393           700,457            1,143,778        3,147,679        

455,581           837,720 501,497           454,380           1,005,275        1,072,059        1,781,670        2,039,773         1,897,960        1,688,428        

OPERATING REVENUE: Sales 
Tax Revenue
Local Revenue
Passengers Fares
Special Events
Advertising Revenue
State Assistance
Federal Assistance
Federal Capital Grants Federal 
Grant for Subrecipients (1) 
Investment Income    
Miscellaneous

TOTAL REVENUES 98,725,431$    94,796,944$    98,969,443$    108,494,199$  96,530,235$    99,300,469$    98,664,920$    108,533,875$   135,825,301$  135,970,078$  

Amounts are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, on an accrual basis
1) No federal grant pass-through activity for subrecipients in 2010
Source:  The Authority's Independently audited annual financial statements

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORATION AUTHORITY
Revenues by Source
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Page 93



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Source Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue

1/2-cent Sales Tax 19,205,785$  21,155,231$  22,895,714$  23,433,924$  23,245,816$  26,562,500$  29,148,805$  27,588,814$  27,373,993$  29,116,998$  
3/8-cent Sales Tax 21,512,086    28,424,480    25,807,522    26,539,092    26,249,234    26,356,418    29,182,312    30,346,075    32,374,543    30,537,735    
Other Local 7,321,536 4,040,791 3,179,391 3,623,306 4,685,722 9,494,814 7,761,773 9,446,735 7,844,884 12,840,861    
Passenger Revenues 11,505,545    12,030,920    12,255,314    12,307,123    12,062,643    11,146,180    10,778,789    9,402,016 9,437,354 9,029,898 
Federal Funding 35,950,677    26,377,265    32,372,479    41,283,938    27,500,558    22,930,692    18,405,096    27,949,131    54,981,577    48,696,372    
Other Sources 3,229,802 2,768,257 2,459,023 1,306,816 2,786,262 2,809,865 3,388,145 3,801,104 3,812,950 5,748,214 
Total Revenue 98,725,431 94,796,944 98,969,443 108,494,199 96,530,235 99,300,469 98,664,920 108,533,875 135,825,301 135,970,078

% of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue % of Revenue
1/2-cent Sales Tax 19.45% 22.32% 23.13% 21.60% 24.08% 26.75% 29.54% 25.42% 20.15% 21.41%
3/8-cent Sales Tax 21.79% 29.98% 26.08% 24.46% 27.19% 26.54% 29.58% 27.96% 23.84% 22.46%
Other Local 7.42% 4.26% 3.21% 3.34% 4.85% 9.56% 7.87% 8.70% 5.78% 9.44%
Passenger Revenues 11.65% 12.69% 12.38% 11.34% 12.50% 11.22% 10.92% 8.66% 6.95% 6.64%
Federal Funding 36.41% 27.83% 32.71% 38.05% 28.49% 23.09% 18.65% 25.75% 40.48% 35.81%
Other Sources 3.27% 2.92% 2.48% 1.20% 2.89% 2.83% 3.43% 3.50% 2.81% 4.23%
Total Revenue 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Amounts are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, on an accrual basis
Source:  The Authority's Independently audited annual financial statements

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Principal Revenues

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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CASH FARES:
     Express  ……………………………………………………………………………… 3.00$    
     Local  ………………………………………………………………………………… 1.50      
     RideKC Freedom ADA Trip(1)  ……………………………………………………… 3.00      
     RideKC Freedom Non- ADA Trip(1) ………………………………………………… (1)             
     Transfer Free

DAY PASSES
1-Day Pass(2)  …………………………………………………………………… 3.00$    
3-Day Pass(3)  …………………………………………………………………… 10.00    

10-RIDE PASSES:
K-10 Connector (4)  …………………………………………………………………… 27.00$  

     Johnson County (5) …………………………………………………………………… 20.25    
     Independence ……………………………………………………………………… 12.00    

MONTHLY PASSES:
     Express ……………………………………………………………………………… 95.00$  
     Local    ………………………………………………………………………………… 50.00    

K-10 Connector   …………………………………………………………………… 95.00    
     Senior Discount Card(6) ……………………………………………………………… 25.00    

FREEDOM-ON-DEMAND
0-5 Miles  …..……………………………………………………………………… 5.00$    

          Each Additional Mile  …………………………………………………………… 2.00      

SPECIAL FARES:
     Children 6 to 11 years old  ………………………………………………………… 0.75$    
     Children 5 and under  ……………………………………………………………… Free
     All ADA Card recipients on fixed-route bus service only(7) ………………………       0.75 
     Summer Youth Pass June 1 -  August 31(8)  ………………………………………     12.00 

(1) Door-to-door service on demand, wheelchair lift-equipped paratransit mini-buses, for eligible disabled
riders holding an "ADA" card.  The ADA paratransit service is operated within 3/4-mile of local bus routes
and costs $3 per one-way trip.  The Non-ADA demand repsonse service has a larger service area and
cost is determined by the length of the trip.
(2) Local bus service - regular fare for most routes
(3) 3-Day passes are good for 3 days from the first use.
(4) For K-10 Connector between Overland Park and Lawrence, Kansas.
(5) For routes in Johnson County and between Johnson County and downtown KCMO.
(6) Photo identification card, for riders aged 65 and over.
(7) Photo identification card, for eligible disabled riders.
(8) Available for youth in June, July, and August and good only on KCATA routes.

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Fare Rate Structure

December 31, 2019
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YEAR POPULATION

PER 
CAPITA 
INCOME

TOTAL 
PERSONAL
   INCOME*

MEDIAN 
AGE

UNEMPLOYMENT 
RATE

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

2010 675,259 36,512 26,271,915,445 36.1 10.7

2011 675,373 38,502 25,869,417,280 36.1 9.5

2012 677,558 38,782 26,450,894,473 36.2 7.8

2013 680,290 38,844 27,129,800,412 36.5 7.5

2014 683,683 40,054 28,670,110,315 36.5 7.1

2015 687,623 41,545 28,641,560,819 36.4 5.9

2016 691,801 42,621 28,740,872,545 36.5 5.1

2017 698,895 44,432 29,787,603,795 36.5 4.4

2018 700,307 50,652 31,053,428,000 37.5 3.7

2019 703,011 52,805 * 36.7 3.7

Note:  All information presented is for Jackson County
* Total Personal Income data for 2019 is not available at this time. Jackson County, Missouri 2019 CAFR has not yet been published.

Sources:

(1) U.S. Census Bureau
(2) U.S. Census Bureau
(3) Jackson County CAFR
(4) U.S Census Bureau
(5) Data.bls.gov, as of Dec 2019

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
JACKSON COUNTY, MISSOURI

Demographic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Employer Employees Rank

Percentage of 
Jackson County 

Employees
U.S. Government (excludes military) 18,774 1 5.34%
Cerner Corporation 14,000 2 3.99%
HCA Midwest Health System 9,934 3 2.83%
St. Luke's Health System 8,020 4 2.28%
Children's Mercy Hospitals and Clinics 7,096 5 2.02%
Ford Kansas City Assembly Plant 7,030 6 2.00%
Sprint Corp 6,000 7 1.71%
Hallmark Cards Inc 5,000 8 1.42%
City of Kansas City, Missouri 4,521 9 1.29%
Garmin Ltd 3,651 10 1.04%

Total 84,026 23.92%

Sources: Kansas City Business Journal, Book of Lists, U.S. Census American Fact Finder 

* 2019 Data unavailable as of July 10, 2020

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

2018*
RANKED BY NUMBER OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSOURI EMPLOYEES

2018
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CLASSIFICATION 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

VEHICLE OPERATIONS 472 483 473 464 467 481 489 500 473 471
VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 128 128 132 131 133 133 134 133 142 120
NON-VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 37 37 36 36 36 37 37 37 38 42
GENERAL ADMINISTRATION 92 93 95 94 94 95 105 109 135 128
CAPITAL LABOR EMPLOYEE 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1

TOTAL LABOR 730 744 738 727 731 747 766 780 789 762

Source:  The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report, filed with Federal Transit Administration

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Number of Employees and Labor Classification

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Page 98



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

14,610,848      15,414,499 15,988,034      14,116,689      14,306,016      13,531,071      12,415,022   11,888,260   11,365,396   10,867,925   
* * * 1,591,117        1,545,431        1,435,736        1,350,482     1,240,926     1,160,189     1,109,564     

176,585           190,042 185,256           120,584           102,530           110,096           107,406        84,273          73,604          66,690          
271,692           282,593           276,285           280,259           282,915           267,507           273,338        240,795        214,773        204,164        

5,934 6,294 6,505 6,391 10,739             26,724             31,247          63,249          89,355          103,089        
56,624             59,944             61,626             66,186             65,826             57,184             42,904          41,382          54,019          57,799          

49,417             52,079             53,668             47,376 47,771             45,215             41,475          39,812          37,992          36,160          
* * * 5,115 4,949 4,586 4,340            3,953            3,659            3,475            

601 641 619 424 366 399 385 305 265 243 
946 982 943 954 966 911 921 822 733 685 
221 236 243 264 258 228 171 253 206 221 

8,940,312        9,014,778        8,880,773        8,471,570        8,529,971        8,586,534 8,664,104     8,186,046     8,382,473     8,410,502     
* * * 551,109           550,556           551,146 559,536        539,094        493,486        486,491        

756,146           737,580           718,490           476,302           414,808 423,633           512,370 348,957 284,127        276,682        
3,631,792        3,747,558        3,729,008        3,626,233        3,183,238        2,812,299        2,797,772     2,665,497     2,563,375     2,349,768     

86,290             96,961             97,569             93,172             
448,333           463,853           484,237           513,353           546,546           506,466           349,797        324,178        417,049        462,300        

29,978             30,250             29,790             28,291             28,465             28,632             28,928          27,294          28,031          28,154          
* * * 1,760 1,758 1,758 1,774            1,717            1,569            1,542            

2,503 2,383 2,312 1,659 1,498 1,535 1,878            1,272            1,050            1,023            
12,583             12,890             12,624             12,176             10,724             9,406 9,290            8,863            8,621            7,879            
1,751 1,826 1,914 2,045 2,143 2,018 1,372            2,438            1,587            1,763            

7,754,839        7,819,840        7,794,854        7,491,351        7,521,462        7,555,947        7,625,430     7,425,128     7,385,703     7,416,079     
* * * 512,874           512,256           512,787           518,198        498,988        455,147        455,521        

618,171           597,960           586,231           376,543           318,132           324,025 327,208        250,205        184,013        173,715        
3,175,512        3,293,712        3,251,285        3,130,182        2,782,896        2,450,642        2,436,028     2,366,812     2,273,133     2,068,735     

86,290             96,961             97,569             93,172             136,903           286,828           361,302        470,737        521,110        566,000        

SYSTEM RIDERSHIP 
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *  
Demand responsive - DO 
Demand responsive - PT 
Demand responsive - Taxi 
Vanpool

AVERAGE WEEKDAY 
SYSTEM RIDERSHIP 
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *  
Demand responsive - DO 
Demand responsive - PT 
Vanpool

VEHICILE MILES 
OPERATED
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit*    
Demand responsive - DO 
Demand responsive -  PT 
Demand responsive - Taxi 
Vanpool

AVERAGE WEEKDAY 
VEHICILE MILES 
OPERATED
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *  
Demand responsive - DO 
Demand responsive - PT 
Vanpool

REVENUE MILES Motor 
bus
Bus rapid transit *  
Demand responsive - DO 
Demand responsive - PT 
Demand responsive - Taxi 
Vanpool 448,333           463,853           484,237           513,353           546,546           506,466           349,797        324,178        417,049        462,300        

* Data not available for Bus Rapid Transit from 2010-2012 as BRT service began in 2013
Source:  The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report, filed with Federal Transit Administration
DO:  Directly Operated
PT: Purchased Transportation

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Operating Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

50,083,960      56,314,347      58,638,621      53,423,947      52,636,459      53,078,869     48,848,725    43,395,746    41,681,970    40,427,616    
* * * 4,311,927        4,163,427        3,826,842       3,545,294      3,308,900      3,193,498      2,903,875      

1,162,075        1,362,933        1,388,668        691,993           486,460 513,960          485,317 369,624 306,934        270,460        
2,420,799        2,455,338        2,412,232        2,394,277 2,039,315        1,849,389       1,840,496      1,860,194      1,750,386      1,566,242      

89,709             101,979           102,655           101,837 140,911           290,007          365,957        474,625        532,574        587,600        
2,073,770        2,196,346        2,330,242        2,463,332 2,438,437        2,186,338       1,687,133      1,531,010      1,919,621      1,987,687      

630,880           647,625 624,805           577,043           581,977           585,745          587,938        575,995        577,747        577,359        
* * * 46,541             46,481             46,531            47,019          47,045          47,142          46,780          

51,841             48,565 46,605             33,280             30,759             30,995            39,817          26,123          23,436          22,637          
198,713           194,589           188,163           186,405           202,345           189,086          183,325        167,092        159,442        149,142        

3,842 4,325 4,190 3,680 4,593 10,932            13,137          20,212          23,365          26,957          
10,451             10,797             11,423             12,278             13,276             11,903            8,123            8,338            11,096          12,057          

580,551           587,023           579,042           536,231 540,346           544,566          546,623        536,501        536,938        537,616        
* * * 44,395 44,362             44,373            44,789          44,835          45,032          45,320          

44,253             41,105             39,652             28,287 25,873             26,012            25,906          22,338          19,741          18,893          
170,461           176,551           174,357           172,444           162,840           150,081          151,809        143,780        137,294        124,742        

3,842 4,325 4,190 3,680 4,593 10,932            13,137          20,212          23,365          28,957          
10,451             10,797             11,423             12,278             13,276             11,903            8,123            8,338            11,096          12,057          

2,699,620        2,735,031        2,659,282        2,610,900        2,658,838        2,669,210       2,670,217      2,608,754      2,560,079      2,438,503      

208 197 195 178 168 168 168 165 162 160
76 76 76 78 79 73 81 70 66 65

248 260 248 222 253 272 225 203 204 192
108 112 100 103 102 94 109 94 97 75

PASSENGER MILES
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *
Demand responsive - DO
Demand responsive - PT
Demand responsive - Taxi
Vanpool

VEHICLE HOURS OPERATED
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *
Demand responsive - DO
Demand responsive - PT
Demand responsive - Taxi
Vanpool

VEHICLE REVENUE HOURS
Motor bus
Bus rapid transit *
Demand responsive - DO
Demand responsive - PT
Demand responsive - Taxi
Vanpool

DIESEL, BIODIESEL, CNG, GASOLINE FUEL 
USAGE (IN GALLONS)

FLEET REQUIREMENTS (DURING PEAK HOURS) 
Motor bus
Demand responsive

TOTAL REVENUE VEHICLES DURING PERIOD 
Motor bus
Demand responsive

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 728 742 736 721 731 747 768 780 789 748

* Data not available for Bus Rapid Transit from 2010-2012 as BRT service began in 2013

Source:  The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report, filed with Federal Transit Administration

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Operating Statistics
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Year 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land and rights-of-way 8,672,679$         8,672,679$         8,672,679$         8,672,679$         8,672,679$         8,672,679$         8,813,771$         12,209,641$       12,991,155$       13,709,559$       
Capital Projects in progress 1,396,388           1,782,201           6,489,804           1,797,128           7,169,309           11,605,847         5,176,141           10,925,355         16,615,132         40,343,794         

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 10,069,067$       10,454,880$       15,162,483$       10,469,807$       15,841,988$       20,278,526$       13,989,912$       23,134,996$       29,606,287$       54,053,353$       

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Builidings and Improvements 48,173,426$       49,665,476$       49,700,056$       56,495,659$       56,433,596$       56,717,418$       64,900,882$       65,698,717$       65,421,117$       65,421,117$       
Revenue Equipmenet 82,840,127         89,455,858         89,371,411         84,662,831         87,317,686         91,350,862         92,851,101         92,402,521         108,089,588       112,873,109       
Other Equipment and Structures 49,432,218         51,489,912         49,492,867         57,260,338         57,245,728         57,453,789         58,522,313         58,432,572         62,417,123         62,744,083         
Office Furniture and Equipment 5,280,879           5,873,377           5,873,084           5,443,686           4,959,018           5,305,133           5,508,579           5,720,403           5,424,165           6,120,748           

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 185,726,650$     196,484,623$     194,437,418$     203,862,514$     205,956,028$     210,827,202$     221,782,875$     222,254,213$     241,351,993$     247,159,057$     

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
Builidings and Improvements 27,209,826$       28,992,949$       30,645,097$       31,043,550$       32,682,479$       34,352,579$       36,372,623$       38,335,276$       39,904,762$       41,796,875$       
Revenue Equipmenet 50,690,672         52,689,506         54,578,723         55,357,807         55,071,249         58,426,609         64,000,694         58,767,431         56,378,035         60,827,339         
Other Equipment and Structures 23,274,405         27,287,795         28,584,133         32,579,370         37,236,444         40,959,889         44,006,095         46,047,077         48,428,332         50,883,044         
Office Furniture and Equipment 3,976,040           4,596,484           4,389,642           4,463,038           4,343,867           4,771,328           5,079,958           5,220,914           4,915,929           5,288,822           

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 105,150,943$     113,566,734$     118,197,595$     123,443,765$     129,334,039$     138,510,405$     149,459,370$     148,370,698$     149,627,058$     158,796,080$     

Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 80,575,707$       82,917,889$       76,239,823$       80,418,749$       76,621,989$       72,316,797$       72,323,505$       73,883,515$       91,724,935$       88,362,977$       

Net Capital Assets, End of Year 90,644,774$       93,372,769$       91,402,306$       90,888,556$       92,463,977$       92,595,323$       86,313,417$       97,018,511$       121,331,222$     142,416,330$     

Source:  Kansas City Area Transportation Authority Financial Statements 2010-2019

KANSAS CITY AREA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Operating Information-Capital Assets

Fiscal Year 2010 Through Fiscal Year 2019
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